

Cheltenham Borough Council Council

Meeting date: 23 February 2024

Meeting time: 2.30 pm

Meeting venue: Council Chamber - Municipal Offices

Membership:

Councillors Matt Babbage (Chair), Paul Baker (Vice-Chair), Glenn Andrews, Victoria Atherstone, Adrian Bamford, Garth Barnes, Ian Bassett-Smith, Graham Beale, Angie Boyes, Nigel Britter, Jackie Chelin, Ed Chidley, Barbara Clark, Flo Clucas, Mike Collins, Iain Dobie, Stephan Fifield, Bernard Fisher, Wendy Flynn, Tim Harman, Steve Harvey, Rowena Hay, Sandra Holliday, Martin Horwood, Peter Jeffries, Tabi Joy, Alisha Lewis, Paul McCloskey, Emma Nelson, Tony Oliver, Richard Pineger, Julie Sankey, Diggory Seacome, Smith, Izaac Tailford, Julian Tooke, Simon Wheeler, Max Wilkinson, Suzanne Williams and David Willingham

Important notice – filming, recording and broadcasting of Council meetings

This meeting will be recorded by the council for live broadcast online at www.cheltenham.gov.uk and https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams. The Chair will confirm this at the start of the meeting.

If you participate in the meeting, you consent to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

If you have any questions on the issue of filming/recording of meetings, please contact Democratic Services.

Contact: democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk

Phone: 01242 264 246

- 1 Apologies
- 2 Declarations of interest
- 3 Minutes of the last meeting (Pages 5 36)

Minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2023

- 4 Communications by the Mayor
- 5 Communications by the Leader of the Council
- 6 To receive petitions

7 Public Questions

These must be received no later than 12 noon on Wednesday 14 February.

8 Member Questions

These must be received no later than 12 noon on Wednesday 14 February.

9 Final General Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals 2024-25 and Quarterly **Budget Monitoring Report, October-December 2023**

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

Report to follow.

10 Housing Revenue Account Revised Forecast 2023-24 and Budget 2024-25

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

Report to follow.

11 Council Tax Resolution 2024-25

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

Report to follow.

12 Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers (Pages 37 - 46)

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

13 Council Tax Premium on Empty Properties and Second Homes (Pages 47 -64)

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

14 Council Order of Precedence - Nominations for Mayor Elect (Pages 65 - 72)

Report of the Chief Executive

15 Council Diary (Pages 73 - 90)

Report of the Leader

16 Notices of Motion

17 Any other item the Mayor determines as urgent and which requires a decision

18 Local Government Act 1972 - Exempt Information The committee is recommended to approve the following resolution:-

"That in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining agenda items as it is likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if members of the public are present there will be disclosed to them exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3, Part (1) Schedule (12A) Local Government Act 1972, namely:

Paragraph 1; Information relating to any individual

Paragraph 2; Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual

Paragraph 3; Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)

19 Organisational Review

Report of the Chief Executive

Report to follow.

Gareth Edmundson Chief Executive





Cheltenham Borough Council Council Minutes

Meeting date: 11 December 2023

Meeting time: 2.30pm – 5.55pm

In attendance:

Councillors:

Matt Babbage (Chair), Paul Baker (Vice-Chair), Glenn Andrews, Victoria Atherstone, Adrian Bamford, Garth Barnes, Ian Bassett-Smith, Graham Beale, Angie Boyes, Nigel Britter, Jackie Chelin, Barbara Clark, Flo Clucas, Mike Collins, Iain Dobie, Stephan Fifield, Bernard Fisher, Tim Harman, Steve Harvey, Rowena Hay, Sandra Holliday, Martin Horwood, Peter Jeffries, Tabi Joy, Alisha Lewis, Emma Nelson, Tony Oliver, Diggory Seacome, Smith, Izaac Tailford, Julian Tooke, Simon Wheeler, Max Wilkinson, Suzanne Williams and David Willingham

Also in attendance:

Paul Jones (Executive Director of Finance, Assets and Regeneration), Claire Hughes (Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer) and Gareth Edmundson (Chief Executive)

1 Apologies

Apologies were received from Councillors Chidley, Flynn, McCloskey, Pineger and Sankey.

2 Declarations of interest

Councillor Willingham and Councillor Fisher, as a county councillors, declared an interest in Agenda item 14 - Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury – Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee.

Councillor Clucas, as Chair of Big Local, also declared an interest in Agenda Item 14.

3 Minutes of the last meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 October had been circulated. Councillor Willingham asked that his apologies be added.

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2023 be approved and signed as a correct record.

4 Communications by the Mayor

The Mayor made Members aware of the passing of Honorary Freeman Air Vice-Marshal Tony Mason and the former Mayor's officer Paul Williams.

Members shared memories of both men, Tony Mason for his regular attendance at Remembrance Sunday and Paul Williams for being extremely efficient and helpful. They will both be much missed, and condolences were sent to their families.

The Mayor invited Members to share in a moment's silent reflection.

5 Communications by the Leader of the Council

The Leader had no communications to share on this occasion.

6 To receive petitions

There were no petitions.

7 Public Questions

One public question had been received, as follows:

1. Question from Mr Graeme Mackintosh to Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services, Councillor Martin Horwood

Could the cabinet member responsible please provide an update of the Council's view on the Trust's attempt to extend its temporary structure at Pittville Pump Room and could he give reassurance that no communications or leniency have been made in favour towards the Trust in the planning process.

Cabinet Member response:

Neither the Officer Planning team nor the Planning Committee team have considered any recent proposals seeking to extend the life of the temporary orangery structure at the Pittville Pump Room.

Planning permission was most recently granted in June of this year for the orangery structure together with its ancillary toilets and storage to remain in place until the 6th November 2024. A further planning permission will be required if the Cheltenham Trust wish to retain the structures beyond that date.

The Trust was and is treated no differently to any other applicant for planning permission and that will continue to be the case. The Trust's applications are objectively assessed against national and local planning policy as well as any relevant material considerations, as is the case for any applicant.

All councillors and officers must always adhere to the Council's Constitution and the Planning Code of Conduct which is available on the council website.

Supplementary question:

If Cheltenham Trust is not being granted special planning privileges, why has it been allowed to keep the Covid-period greenhouse at Pittville Pump Room until September 2024, with exactly the same building that was refused planning permission in October 2022 then granted in June 2023, while by comparison the Covid structures at 131 Promenade have had appeals then modifications rejected, and these are only beside a Grade II-listed building, of which there are many in Cheltenham, unlike the iconic Grade I-listed Pump Room?

Cabinet Member response:

Thank you for the supplementary question. We cannot go into the minutiae of each planning application and how it is treated, as this is specifically the responsibility of the Planning Committee on the advice of planning officers. I will ask the case officers or Chair of Planning Committee to provide a written response to the question. It is reasonable to ask the question, but I repeat the reassurance given in my original response that all officers and councillors abide by the planning code of conduct, which is part of the constitution and available to view on the website.

8 Member Questions

Ten Member questions had been received:

1. Question from Councillor Tim Harman to Cabinet Member for Waste, Recycling and Street Services, Councillor Iain Dobie

Will the Cabinet Member explain what steps are being taken to sweep/remove the leaf fall which can make pavements slippery at this time of year?

Cabinet Member response:

Members will be aware that every year during the Autumn the leaves fall off the trees onto the pavements and as such there is a regular programme of leaf clearance that takes place and details can be found on our website.

As we plant more trees to support climate change, the amount of leaves that fall in our green spaces and built up areas such as the High Street, is increasing and not only in the Autumn. As we have seen over the last few years, periods of hot and dry weather during the summer also cause the trees to drop their leaves. In other words, the trees that we value so much in our efforts to mitigate the impacts of climate change are generating more work when the leaves do fall.

As I have already mentioned, every year, Ubico deliver a regular programme of leaf clearance and move around the town centre and the rest of the borough as quickly as they can. Residents are asked to report any specific areas where there is a build-up of leaf fall as this does vary from year to year and is also very dependent on weather conditions. I can confirm that during November this year we received 62 requests for leaf clearance of which 44 have been completed already. Over the last few weeks leaf clearance has taken place across the borough including in Queens Road, Christchurch Road, Malvern Road, Lansdown Crescent, Douro Road, Bayshill Road, Lansdown Road, Parabola Road, Hatherley Road, College Road, Sandford Mill Road, Keynsham Road, Pittville Circus and All Saints Road.

I would urge residents to support our street cleansing efforts by moving parked cars when asked to enable cleansing of leaves and detritus from pavements and the highway.

Not only will you see crews manually clearing leaves on pavements and the highway but the road sweepers are also deployed to clear leaves and as such if parked cars block areas of the road these efforts are thwarted. During periods of cold weather, as instructed by Gloucestershire County Council, the road sweepers are stood down on main roads and gateway routes to ensure any gritting that takes place over night is not swept away early in the morning by the road sweepers. As you can imagine this does sometimes slow down the leaf clearing process but I can assure you leaves are cleared as quickly as possible within the available resources.

Supplementary question

Thanks to the Cabinet Member for the helpful reply. Would he also take this opportunity to recognise the efforts of some residents' groups, such as SPJARA in Park ward in helping to coordinate with UBICO with leaf clearances and warning people to move their cars, an exercise just undertaken, and does he think this is something we should promote to other resident groups and to parish councils?

Cabinet Member response

Thanks for the opportunity to thank residents' groups for precisely those actions. It is important that we are working together with residents to get leaves and other obstructions on pavements cleared - there have been many examples of this and will continue to be throughout the winter. What is done by residents' groups and other community groups in conjunction with the council and UBICO shows how closely we work with them and value the volunteers in our town.

2. Question from Councillor Tim Harman to the Leader, Councillor Rowena Hay From confidential briefings at this Council I understand that the potential sale of Gloucestershire Airport needed to remain under wraps at this stage. The premature disclosure of the potential sale, prompted by a question at Gloucester City Council by a senior liberal democrat councillor, seems to have prompted a formal statement by the two shareholding councils.

Will the Leader like to comment and can she state what the proceeds of CBCs share will be earmarked for?

Cabinet Member response:

Thank you for your question Councillor Harman. The decision to approve the exit strategy for the Council's shareholding in Gloucestershire Airport was made by Full Council in December 2020 and is a matter of public record.

Whilst the formal statement was published a week earlier than planned, it does not change the fact that this Council had approved its exit strategy 3 years ago and all Members within this Chamber had been fully briefed via their Group Leaders.

It would be negligent for me to put on record what the proceeds will be earmarked for in advance of any sale being completed, but I can confirm that any proceeds, should they be realised, will be put towards meeting our corporate priorities as defined in our Corporate Plan.

Supplementary question:

Is it intended to have an open tendering process or some other arrangement?

Leader response:

We have had lots of interest from people – it isn't a closed shop. We have a duty as an authority to get the best price for any asset we own, so it will be a tendering process but we have not reached that stage at the moment – at present, we are just receiving expressions of interest, and it is quite exciting.

3. Question from Councillor Stephan Fifield to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets Councillor Peter Jeffries

It's been 6 months since I last raised the issue of the unavailability of Spa Water at the Pittville Pump Room. The Cabinet Member said he would update us on the ongoing works within 3 months. We haven't received an update. Could you give us an update on all the works that have been done, clarify what the current situation of the water is, and whether the water will be returning in the next 6 months?

Cabinet Member response:

I would like to thank Cllr Fifield for his question and I am pleased to provide an update on the activity which has been undertaken over the last three months in particular. In September the property team replaced the spa water pump in the well which meant the spa tap was operational.

Following the repair, the cold water storage tank was cleaned and disinfected following external advice in advance of water samples being taken.

At the start of October the spa water was tested and the results show the quality of the water was unsatisfactory and not suitable for consumption. This means at present the spa water can run but is not drinkable.

Working in partnership with the Cheltenham trust this situation is being monitored.

Supplementary question:

Thanks for the Cabinet Member's response, and we are all sad to hear that the waters still aren't drinkable. When I asked the same question to the Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Culture, Tourism and Wellbeing six months ago, he made it clear the cause of this was uncertain. Are any more works being done to understand what the cause is, and is there a timescale for when those works might be completed?

Cabinet Member response

The actual cause of the contamination is open to speculation – it isn't an ongoing piece of work, more a question of ongoing monitoring. I will speak with the relevant property officer in case any more light can be shed on it.

4. Question from Councillor Stephan Fifield to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets. Councillor Peter Jeffries

It was recently reported that the Pump Room was closed for emergency works. This sounds very worrying. Could you please give an update on the works that have been made, why they needed to be done so suddenly, the cost of these works so far, and if these works have completed?

Cabinet Member response

I would like to thank Cllr Fifield for his question and his interest in the Pittville Pump Rooms.

The Pump Rooms are currently closed in order to undertake some repairs on the plasterwork in the main ballroom. The decision to undertake these works so urgently was made following a close quarters inspection of the ceilings and the iconic dome which was completed in October 2023.

The Pump Rooms are an important destination for visitors in our town and also available for private hire as well as being an office space for staff at the Cheltenham Trust. It is with great regret that the building has been closed but the Council takes its responsibility to make sure the building continues to be safe for users extremely seriously. We are also committed to ensuring the building can be preserved for the enjoyment of future generations.

In order to move forward as quickly as possible with the remedial works, a specialist contract was appointed by the Council through a waiver within five calendar days of the inspection. We have an initial quote for these works but the full cost may change, depending on whether additional consequential repairs are identified during remediation.

Supplementary question

Thanks to the Cabinet Member for his response. I am glad that Cheltenham Trust are repairing the building, but wonder how much support people who had booked the Pump Rooms for events were given to find alternative venues, and have they been told when the venue will be reopened?

Cabinet Member response

The council has also been proactive in dealing with this, as well as the Trust. Any cancellations and finding alternative accommodation has been managed by the Trust. As and when the venue is available again will be covered by the comms team, and all Members will be informed.

5. Question from Councillor Stephan Fifield to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets, Councillor Peter Jeffries

Could you please tell me what works have been made to the Municipal building to modernise it since the beginning of the 2020 financial year. Do you have costings for these works and what are they?

Cabinet Member response:

I would like to thank Cllr Fifield for his question. Other than reactive repairs and other health and safety related work at the Municipal Offices, the only modernisation work undertaken has been the redecoration of the first and second floor of the building and the refurbishment of the reception area. This work started in 2020 and completed in 2021. The total revenue cost of the redecoration was £205k and the reception capital works cost £125k.

I'm sure you will remember prior to 2020, the office space throughout the building had not been decorated or refurbished for over a decade, in some areas even longer. Modernising the décor allowed the full roll out of agile working as staff returned to the office after the pandemic, it meant the Council could reduce its footprint in the building at a time of rising energy costs in 2022 and provided more modern space to lease and generate commercial income to support the delivery of core services.

The refurbishment of the reception area meant we were able to re-open to the public after the pandemic with a much more professional and fit for purpose customer service front of house. This investment considered the potential future re-location of the Council and all equipment, including the desk itself, can be re-located to a new space.

6. Question from Councillor Stephan Fifield to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets, Councillor Peter Jeffries

Could you please tell me if there have been any negotiations with any potential buyers for Idsall Drive Car Park in the last 6 months, and if so how many separate negotiations have there been, and how many are ongoing?

Cabinet Member response

I would like to thank Cllr Fifield for his question. As you are aware, the Cabinet took a decision on the 19 September to declare the land at Idsall Drive surplus to requirements and dispose of the holding for best consideration. At the request of the Leader, conversations were re-opened with Prestbury Parish Council to purchase the land. These have now concluded and the land will shortly be advertised for sale on the open market.

No other negotiations have been undertaken with potential buyers in the last six months.

Supplementary question:

Thanks for the response. Now that it is properly on sale, are there any conditions or favoured type of buyers that the council has in mind?

Cabinet Member response:

It is hard to pre-judge what might come forward, but the first consideration is best value. No conditions have been raised or discussed with property officers to date.

7. Question from Councillor Emma Nelson to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets, Councillor Peter Jeffries

In previous years, CBC have allowed free parking after 5.00 pm in selected town centre car parks to boost the town's Christmas economy. What plans, if any, are there to do something similar this year? Which car parks will be free and when will this initiative be announced?

Cabinet Member response:

I would like to thank Cllr Nelson for her question. You may have seen the media release on 4 December that free parking is being offered in the Town Centre East car park on Thursday 7, 14 and 21 from 12noon to 8pm.

This demonstrates the commitment our Council has for residents to be able to shop locally and support our fantastic retail and hospitality sector in the run up to Christmas. This has proved a successful initiative in previous years and has been endorsed by the Cheltenham BID.

I would also like to take the opportunity to draw attention to a number of events running in the town over the festive period – our very own ice rink in Imperial Gardens, the pantomimes at the Everyman and Playhouse Theatres and the Christmas Arts and Crafts Market which will be running from 14 to 23 December on the Promenade.

And finally, to wish all our residents, visitors, staff and Members a very Merry Christmas!

Supplementary question:

Thanks for your response. In your answer, you refer to the successful initiative in previous years, which prompted my original question. Free car parking was announced on the final Wednesday of November last year, for four Thursdays in December and two car parks; this year, the initiative was not announced until 04 December, and will only cover three Thursdays and one car park. Can you explain why?

Cabinet Member response:

Officers and I have many detailed conversations about how we can support the business community, some of which take longer than anticipated.

8. Question from Councillor Emma Nelson to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets, Councillor Peter Jeffries

The Council has 11 car parks around the town centre offering a total of 1,803 spaces, including 71 (4%) disabled bays. In all parks but the Regent Arcade, disabled drivers are allowed to park for the first 3 hours for free yet the Regent Arcade Car park requires them to pay normal charges. Why is this and can this be classified as inclusive or fair?

Cabinet Member response:

I would like to thank Cllr Nelson for her question. In our pay and display car parks, free parking for up to 3 hours for disabled users is available without the customer purchasing a ticket. As long as a blue badge is displayed in the vehicle, our enforcement officers will not issue a penalty charge notice.

Regent Arcade is a pay on foot barrier system. The customer takes a ticket on entry, pays at one of the machines before leaving. In order to exit the car park a validated ticket should be inserted into the barrier. All vehicles must insert a paid ticket for the exit barrier to open. At present it is not possible for individuals or groups of individuals to by-pass this process.

This information is published by the Council on our website and as part of the consultation on the Car Parking Order when this change was introduced, in direct response to legal advice sought at the time.

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/58/disabilities/399/disabled_parking

The Council's car parking strategy is currently under review and key themes such as accessibility, pricing and capacity to meet future needs are being considered as part of this.

Supplementary question

Thanks for the Cabinet Member's response. You refer to the parking strategy currently under review, specifically vis-à-vis the classification of 'inclusive' for disabled parking being not free in Regent Arcade. When will that review be completed?

Cabinet Member response

Early next year.

9. Question from Councillor Emma Nelson to Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets, Councillor Peter Jeffries

What are the plans for installing EVs in all the CBC-owned car parks? What is the time frame and how many will be installed in each?

Cabinet Member response:

I would like to thank Cllr Nelson for her question. The property team have been working hard over the last year to develop a proposal for installing EV charging points in our car parks across the town. Working with EV Network, heads of terms are currently being agreed for the provision of 44 rapid charging points in five locations spread evenly across the town: St James Street, Bath Terrace, West End, Six ways and Church Piece.

Before any of the leases can be completed and work begins on the installation of the infrastructure, we will be going out to consultation on the relevant changes that are needed to the Car Parking Order. We look forward to hearing the views of key stakeholders through this consultation period and, subject to the outcome, construction should be able to begin before the end of this financial year.

Supplementary question

Thank you for your response on the EV point. How did you decide which car parks and how many EV charging points to put in each?

Cabinet Member response

The team has been working diligently for quite some time on EV charging points in car parks and have whittled it down from all car parking in Cheltenham down to what they consider to be the most likely to be able to bring forward in terms of accessibility from the market and equally trying to spread them evenly across the town. Hopefully this will be the first of several phases of the EV roll-out

10. Question from Councillor Tony Oliver to Cabinet Member for Housing, Councillor Victoria Atherstone

Some of my recent casework has been with helping leaseholders of CBH properties with financial difficulties arising from the costs of updating these properties.

CBH has been following a long running programme of works to maintain and improve the properties they own for the benefit of all their tenants.

Problems have arisen with the costs of improvement works to maisonettes and the shared responsibility for works that are a feature of such properties. As I understand it, CBH maisonette tenants wishing to exercise the 'right to buy' their maisonette could only do so on a leasehold basis, in order to ensure that the costs of any improvements could be equally recovered.

This has caused financial problems to some leaseholders I am working with who have been asked to cover their share of replacing items such as doors and windows and in some instances up to circa £9k towards roof replacements. Whilst payment plans are being offered, I am aware that even for lower costs work these are amounting to around £250 per month over an extended period, which in the current cost of living crisis means that some are finding it increasingly difficult to afford essentials such as food.

Can the Cabinet Member for Housing tell me how many maisonettes in Cheltenham are occupied by CBH leaseholders and what plans there are to help ease the financial concerns of leaseholders who are afraid of running into debts they cannot afford and ultimately losing their homes?

Cabinet Member response:

Thank you Councillor Oliver for your important question.

It is correct that some leaseholders can face substantial invoices for their share of costs to the blocks in which they hold their lease. This can apply to leaseholders living in flats as well as to leaseholders living in maisonettes.

There are currently 435 leaseholders within our housing stock (both flats and maisonettes), and of these 161 (37%) are sublet. Being a leaseholder can come with financial challenges, given both the annual service charges and expected contributions towards "major works" such as roof replacements. CBC therefore has a range of options available to help leaseholders, depending on their circumstances. It is important to note that when approached by a leaseholder for help, we will always

handle each situation with compassion, sensitivity and agility, especially given the current financial climate.

The options that we would fully explore with a leaseholder are as follows:

1) Payment arrangements

This option is the most common. We will investigate a leaseholder's circumstances, considering any other outstanding invoices, and conduct an overview of their finances to see what help is needed and what repayment arrangements can be made. In some cases we may make a referral to our in-house Benefit and Money Advice Service to see if any additional income can be obtained and other sources and for any guidance on budgeting and bills.

Quite often problems can arise from a change in personal circumstances, so if this happens, we will seek to make a temporary affordable repayment arrangement, which is then reviewed after an agreed period (eg 6 -12 months). If their circumstances have improved, the repayment contributions can then be revisited. The key is flexibility. We will only make arrangements that are affordable to individuals and not based on fixed time periods and amounts. At this stage of the process these arrangements are interest free.

2) Private Finance (borrowing)

We will advise those leaseholders without savings to obtain independent financial advice on taking out a private loan. Leaseholders may find adding the amount to their mortgage or seeking a private loan to be the cheapest method of borrowing.

3) Buy backs

In some cases, we have worked with individuals who don't want to be a leaseholder due to financial pressures. In such instances we have successfully worked with leaseholders to purchase their property, clear any associated debts owed to the council, and then allowed them to remain in the property on a tenancy.

4) Service Charge Loan

A leaseholder also has the right to request a loan from the council to cover the costs for major works done to the property demanded as part of the annual service charges, provided certain eligibility criteria is met.

5) <u>Discretionary deferred payment</u>

We realise that it is not always possible for a leaseholder to pay for a major works bill in one go or be able to borrow money from banks and building societies.

A leaseholder may not be eligible for a Service Charge Loan or in the case of being eligible, may not be able to take up the option on the grounds of affordability. Therefore we can, at our discretion, offer various methods of payments to help leaseholders, based on individual circumstances.

The council would offer discretionary loans to leaseholders, deferring payments, once they have demonstrated that they have not been able to obtain a loan from elsewhere. We would consider each individual leaseholder's circumstances, taking account of their ability to repay the loan and the amount of equity that they have in

their property, before arriving at a decision. This discretionary loan option will only be given to a leaseholder in extreme hardship and is subject to interest.

6) Voluntary Charge on the property

If none of the above payment options assist a leaseholder facing extreme hardship, a legal charge (known as a Voluntary Charge) can be secured on the property with the Land Registry.

Interest will be charged and once the property is sold, assigned, or passed on through inheritance, the charge would be immediately repayable to the council. The leaseholder will be required to pay the monthly interest to the council but if this was not possible then the council could accrue the interest to be paid from the proceeds of the sold property.

In summary, at present none of our 435 leaseholders have needed to rely on the Council's Major Works Policy for Leaseholders in terms of Service Charge Loans, Discretionary Deferred Payments, or Voluntary Charges. There have been more suitable options for leaseholders in terms of payment arrangements (based on affordability), private finance (borrowing) or through buy backs.

In addition, no leaseholder debts have ever needed to be written off. Ultimately when a leasehold property is sold any outstanding services charges are cleared through the proceeds of sale. Non-payment of Service Charges and Major Works would leave a leaseholder at risk of forfeiture of their lease. This is the means for a landlord to terminate the lease. This has never occurred and should give some further comfort that existing options are working, and that leaseholders are being dealt with sensitively and with compassion.

Supplementary question

Thanks to the Cabinet Member for a detailed response, and I look forward to working with her in the future.

9 Recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) regarding the Members' Scheme of Allowances

The Chair of the IRP, Graham Russell, presented the report, the requisite four-yearly review of councillors' allowances and expenses, as well as the whole scheme and the way it is administered. Recommendations have been made based on the level of current allowances, entitlement to expenses, the correction of some anomalies, and some adjustments to reflect how CBC works, all based on evidence received from elected councillors, and he is presenting the view of the Panel today. He thanked Members and officers who supported the Panel and contributed to the review by providing vital evidence, and was happy to take questions.

In response to questions from Members, the Chair of the IRP confirmed that:

- he believed that using the 2007 formula to set the basic allowance was appropriate, taking into account the present wage rate, the average 12.3 weekly hours worked by Members, and the percentage reduction the government

- requires panels to implement to the effect that a certain number of councillor hours should be unremunerated:
- he did not personally believe a formula was the most effective way to calculate the special responsibility allowances (SRA) some Members are entitled to over and above the basic allowance, and thinks we need to be more flexible in balancing the evidence with what the council expects from these roles. The Panel has historically used a different formula for this, and may need to revisit it in the future:
- although the national average number of weekly hours worked by councillors is 15, the evidence submitted by Members suggested that 12.3 hours was a more realistic number in CBC;
- the increase in the Deputy Leader's allowance arises from an anomaly found in the scheme that there was no specific SRA for the Deputy Leader role, which the council is statutorily required to have. The scheme recommends SRA levels for all Member roles, but some Members are only entitled to one of the allowances despite undertaking more than one role. As the Deputy Leader is likely to be a Cabinet Member, the allowance is equivalent to the Cabinet Member allowance plus 5%;
- the large increase in allowance for the Chair and Vice-Chair of Licensing arises from recognition of the fact that Licensing and Planning committees both deliver important regulatory functions, where failure to deliver effectively might render the council liable to risk. The existing scheme included a wide differential between the two committees, and the Panel felt it was important to recognise that both Chairs have a significant responsibility for managing risk.

In debate, Members made the following comments:

- the Chair of Licensing has to put in a substantial amount of work behind the scenes, to help keep Cheltenham residents safe;
- the two regulatory committees are commensurate in the amount of work Planning focuses on long-term development and knowledge of the Joint Core Strategy, National Planning Policy Framework, and supplementary planning documents, while Licensing is very diverse, with monthly hearings involving a varying amount of work, as well as ad hoc meetings, but the responsibility of Members making the right decision is always critical;
- as a Member of Licensing Committee, it is clear that the Chair has a huge responsibility and deserves the increased allowance:
- thanks to the Panel who gave their time freely. Members must realise how important it is that they feed into the process. The Panel will be looking at allowances again next year.

RESOLVED THAT:

The recommendations of the IRP are accepted as follows:

- 1. the Council endorses the broader understanding of the purpose of the Basic Allowance as outlined in paragraphs 11-13 of the IRP report.
- 2. the Basic Allowance for 2024/25 be set at £6,645
- 3. the Basic Allowance for 2025/26 and beyond be reconsidered by the panel in/or around September 2024.

- 4. the principle that a member may only claim one Special Responsibility Allowance be continued, with the exception of the Mayor who may claim both the SRA for their role as Civic Head and Chair of the Council.
- 5. the Special Responsibility Allowance for the Leader of the Council be set at £21,154 for 2024/25
- 6. the Special Responsibility Allowance for the Deputy Leader of the Council be set at £18,745 for 2024/25.
- 7. the Special Responsibility Allowance for the Mayor as Civic Head be set at £7,935 and as Chair of Council £595 for 2024/25.
- 8. the Special Responsibility Allowance for the following roles be as shown for 2024/25:

Cabinet Member - £17,853

Planning Committee - £5,207

Licensing Committee - £5,207

Overview and Scrutiny Committee - £4,463

Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee - £1,785

Standards Committee - £1,190

Appointments and Remuneration Committee - £397

Independent Members of Standards Committee - £397

- 9. That the Special Responsibility Allowance for a Group Leader remains a flat structure, regardless of size, and be £793 for 2024/25.
- 10. That the Special Responsibility Allowance for Vice Chairs of the following Committees be as follows for 2024/25:

Planning Committee - £2,083

Licensing Committee - £1,770

Overview and Scrutiny Committee - £1,517

- 11. That no change be made at the present time to the travel and subsistence provisions of the Scheme.
- 12. That no change be made at the present time to the dependent care provisions of the Scheme, and that all councillors be urged to recognise their entitlement to such expenses.

10 Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

The Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services introduced his report, saying that there is a statutory requirement to review periodically the SCI and bring forward a revised version of how we intend to involve people in the planning process at all levels. He thanked Tracey Birkinshaw and John Spurling for all their work, and the Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Culture, Tourism and Wellbeing for his input on hard-to-reach groups, which makes the document more up-to-date and relevant.

He highlighted the large section on neighbourhood planning, where the help and support of CBC officers is essential, and will be needed to help facilitate the process in unparished areas considering this route. He also drew Members' attention the council's approach to individual planning applications – due to resource constraints, the standard approach of only notifying immediate neighbours was occasionally too narrow, and a small tweak will allow case officers to consult and notify more widely in some circumstances. The new head of Development Management intends to look into this.

He concluded by saying that some government ministers are dismissive of the idea of careful and considerate planning processes with a lot of consultation, but he feels that we have to take time, to consider hard-to-reach groups, and consult with local communities and neighbours, all of whom have an important part to play in an accountable and fair process.

In response to a Member's question, the Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services gave assurance that, in line with JCS policy SD12, the council will publish documents relating to viability assessments for affordable housing with the papers, making them open to scrutiny. The Member was concerned that developers sometimes claim they cannot provide affordable housing by inflating costs and under-representing income, and there is no opportunity to scrutinise this.

In debate, Members made the following observations:

- noting the importance of neighbourhood plans, it is great that residents in non-parished areas have a voice, and that CIL money is available for their projects, but when creating a neighbourhood plan, a prerequisite is a neighbourhood forum of 21 residents, with the support of local councillors. In many cases, neighbourhood plans could be created across a division, not just in one ward, but it can still be difficult to get over the first hurdle of getting the requisite 21 residents together to create a neighbourhood forum;
- the importance of the SCI shouldn't be underestimated, as it is essential that we don't passively sit back and only consider feedback from elements of the community who are most likely to take part in consultations. Many relevant interest groups have the right to take part and can do a huge amount to help, including hard-to-reach groups such as the young, the old, disabled residents, schools, colleges, and special interest groups. If the consultation on strategic planning is approved later in the meeting, Members should proactively ask everyone in their communities for feedback no-one should be excluded;

- community involvement is a critical part of the planning process, with officers and Planning Committee Members starting by looking at the representations and ensuring that the issues they raise are understood and addressed. All Members have a role to play they receive the weekly planning list, and can communicate with residents about any applications which may be relevant or concerning to them. By law, planning authorities only have to notify neighbours in one of four ways; CBC often goes over and above this, but it is clear that the high cost of writing to all residents in a street is significant; it is good to hear that the new Head of Development Management is going to look at this. Planning applications have a real impact on peoples' live and it is essential to listen to both sides;
- notifying councillors of S106 negotiations in their wards is to be welcomed, but would be helpful if they could also be advised of negotiations in adjacent wards which may also affect their residents;
- it is vital that applications and consultations are written in a way which is understandable to everyone, whatever their background or education – only then will we seriously tackle the issue of community involvement. People need to access the information, understand what is being proposed, know how to respond and be clear on how they can have a role in the whole process;
- problems in local government consultation have been an issue for a long time, but a particular issue is development at the end of a cul-de-sac or on a corner plot, where residents on one side may be consulted and residents on the other side not. We need to do our best to ensure that all people who may be affected, for example by additional traffic or construction vehicles, are adequately consulted so that their views can be taken into account by planners;
- the list of hard-to-reach groups does not claim to be exhaustive, but should include armed forces veterans:
- the clearly stated intention on how the council will engage with residents and partners is very important and to be welcomed.

In response to Members' comments, the Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services made the following points:

- there is a commitment for officers to support residents in unparished and less affluent areas, but the requirements for creating a neighbourhood plan are set in national legislation, with no scope to vary. Hester's Way is a good example of what can be achieved, however;
- Members' comments about taking a proactive approach to ensure real involvement are well made;
- it is true that CBC does more than the minimum consultation, but any further consultation will require more resource so a balance has to be struck. The report allows for wider consultation in some contexts, but Members should contact the new Head of Development Management with their views and suggestions.

RESOLVED THAT:

- 1. the revised Scheme of Community Involvement, attached to the report at Appendix 2 is adopted to take effect immediately; and
- 2. authority is delegated to the Director of Community & Economic Development, in consultation with the Leader and the Cabinet Member Customer and Regulatory Services, to prepare the

Statement of Community Involvement for publication correcting any minor errors such as spelling, grammar, typographical and formatting changes that do not affect the substantive content of the Statement of Community Involvement.

11 2023/24 Treasury Mid-term Report - position at 30th September 2023

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets said regulations require the council to review and scrutinise the treasury management activities undertaken each year, including investments and borrowing to fund key projects and programmes. The report provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities for the first six months of financial year and how activities are compliant with council's policy approved by Members in March 2023. Members will note that general fund borrowing costs are higher than forecast in the 2023-24 budget, driven by Bank of England base rate being 1% higher than predicted when the budget was approved in February 2023. He confirmed that the vast majority of borrowing is at fixed rates, not subject to recent rate rises and volatility, but as an example, the land purchase at West Cheltenham and ongoing capital commitments are currently being funded by temporary short-term borrowing as fixed rate lending is higher than forecast for the coming 24 months.

He said that work is ongoing as part of the 2024-25 budget process to review borrowing and minimise the risk on additional pressures. Officers check interest rates on a daily basis and will determine the optimum opportunity to fix in what is currently a challenging market place, alongside maximising the opportunity to deliver capital receipts.

He concluded by saying that the report was presented and discussed at Treasury Management Panel, is supported by Cabinet colleagues, and is therefore recommended to Council.

In response to Members' questions, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets confirmed that:

- it has always been the council's intention to sell its holdings in the Shroder Income Maximiser Fund when prudent to do so. The fund has reduced its exposure to fossil fuel investments and is losing money at the moment;
- all borrowing is the council's capital commitment, with £38-42m of its capital investment for land purchase at Golden Valley, and additional borrowings the development of the scheme. Added together, the council's commitment is around £150m, with £20m from the government.

There was no debate on this item.

RESOLVED THAT:

- the contents of this summary report of the treasury management activity during the first six months of 2023/24 is considered and noted.

12 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2024-25

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets told Members that each year since 2013, the council has been required to set a Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS) for working-age residents (support for pensioners is not localised and continues to be provided for by a lateral scheme). He said funding for the scheme used to be rolled into the revenue support grant which was subject to annual cuts, but as the council no longer receives that grant, it adopted and approved a new scheme in 2019-20, with the main aim of ensuring that the most vulnerable and those with the lowest incomes continue to receive 100% support. From 01 April 2024, the proposed LCTSS for working age residents will continue to be based on those five income bands, as summarised at Appendix 5.

He said many residents are still struggling with the cost of living crisis and having to spend a disproportionate amount of their income on food. This scheme will provide vital help for the most financially vulnerable residents, with approximately 4483 residents eligible, equating to just under £4.3m worth of support at October 2023.

He trusted that colleagues would support the recommendations, noting that Recommendation 2 sets out delegated authority to adjust the scheme as necessary when the government introduces any welfare changes, and finished by thanking officers in Revenues and Benefits for the extraordinary amount of work they do in supporting residents of our town.

In response to a Member's question about how the council calculates who is eligible for council tax support, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets said that everyone receives a council tax bill, and it is at that point that anyone in need of support can contact the council. The number of people claiming support fluctuates, which can be tricky when calculating the budget.

In debate, the following points were made by Members:

- it is great that CBC is one of the few councils using this mechanism to support the most vulnerable;
- the conservative group will continue to support this scheme.

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets agreed, saying that support of vulnerable residents is key and our policy in Cheltenham is having an impact across the county with other districts looking to follow our lead.

RESOLVED THAT:

1. the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2024/25 for working age customers in Appendix 4 and summarised in Appendix 5 is approved;

2. authority is delegated to the Executive Director for Finance Assets and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance and Assets to uprate any premiums, allowances and determine the income levels in line with any increase in Welfare Benefits by 23 February 2024

13 Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury Strategic and Local Plan - Public Consultation (Regulation 18)

The Leader introduced the report as follows:

- it has been brought to Council for Members to approve CBC's commitment to joint working with Gloucester and Tewkesbury; cross-boundary work is always a challenge, and she thanked Gloucester and Tewkesbury Members for their input;
- by reviewing collectively our strategic and local planning policies, we can look at efficiencies in plan making and provide our communities, wider stakeholders and the development industry with a clear, single point of reference to the planning policies important to our areas. The government is aware of this approach, and the Planning Advisory Service is providing support, recognising the value of three councils working collaboratively in plan-making;
- Regulation 18 is a technical term, drawn from planning regulations, for the stage that presents a draft plan for review. As reviewing planning documents can be time- consuming and challenging, we have introduced a two-stage Regulation 18 process and are consulting on Stage 1 now. It sets out a vision worked upon by the Member working groups across the three councils, together with earlier engagement on the review of the JCS. It introduces the key issues and priorities and tests these through the consultation to ensure they are in line with our Local Development Scheme (that sets the key milestones for plan preparation of the Strategic and Local Plan);
- Stage 2 of Regulation 18 will be presented in early 2025, by which time we will have the appropriate evidence base, built-in comments and recommendations arising from the Stage 1 consultation, and continued active engagement with all on key issues. We recognise that local communities have invested a lot of time previously in the JCS and the Cheltenham Plan, and it is our intention to build upon the strengths of our local policies. Engagement is key as is the value of people getting involved via a package of consultation mechanisms from face-to-face, online and social media. Members should remember that we are all ambassadors to push out the message and encourage engagement;
- we are particularly keen to connect with younger people, who will be most
 affected by the plans we put in place now, and within the context of building on
 the quality of our heritage and wider built and green environments. Also, as a
 council, we are clear that climate change and nature recovery are key drivers
 and will push sustainability policies to drive significant policy change;
- thanks to the Planning Liaison Member Working Group for their work on the preparation of the SLP and their activity within the wider joint Member working group that has supported the preparation of the consultation document;
- thanks also to the officer teams across the three authorities for their investment of time and positive challenge. This will continue to be an important working group as we move through the phases of plan preparation.

In response to a question raised before the meeting concerning the length and detail of the consultation, she said the Citizen Lab platform being procured to manage the

consultation is interactive and will allow people to respond to as much or as little of the consultation as they wish. She added that the Regulation 18 consultation can be broken down so that readers can easily navigate to different parts of the consultation depending on their interest.

The Leader provided the following responses to Members' questions:

- the council has clear statements in respect of safeguarding the urban greenspace policies set out in the Local Plan and JCS, but as we will have to prepare evidence for future examination in public, all possible development sites will need to be reviewed to demonstrate to the Inspector that we have left no stone unturned. However, the clear principles and justification around our established local green spaces which will be a very important factor in any testing;
- any items attached to CBC within our borough will be entirely our decision –
 each council will have sovereignty over what happens within its boundary though
 there will need to be cross-boundary work to make sure we get the best for our
 residents;
- she recognised the need to protect, enhance and strengthen key flagship policies attached to the current Local Plan (such as climate change policies and SPD, our successful target of 40% affordable housing, and the greenbelt border at Hatherley and Hesters Way) which residents would expect to have been protected to 2031. She said we are clear as an authority about what we want and have fought for, but these issues have to be included in the consultation; the outcomes will affect what the council does going forward, and it is important to recognise the need for change;
- she was not aware that the responses of people outside the borough are given any less weight than those of people whose lives will be directly affected as a result of the policies, although those from outside the area are more likely to be developers.

In debate, Members made the following comments:

- the consultation is long and very thorough; thanks to the Leader for confirming that people can give feedback and make comments on their particular areas of interest and do not need to complete the whole document;
- the word deprivation is mentioned once in the document. The CBC Overview and Scrutiny task group recently looked into how to tackle areas of multiple deprivation in the town, and it would be good to work collaboratively with Gloucester and Tewkesbury, seeking more information about health and wellbeing, social value, what residents feel we could do to increase equal opportunities, improve healthy lifestyles and their economic health;
- thanks to the Leader for her exceptional work aligning the values of different councils is an immense business. From a climate change perspective, the opportunity for a combined planning strategy is exciting – the impact of climate change on biodiversity, farming, flood defences doesn't stop at boundaries. It is important to work with the partners on our boundaries, particularly where sites are at risk, and the opportunity to share policies as set out in our SPD will be welcomed:
- Gloucestershire has large areas of deprivation which need commercial and housing development to thrive, rather than just concentrating on the three main

- urban areas, which results in additional pressure on infrastructure and schools and adding to the number of commuters. Most rural areas would take more housing we need to look at the broader picture;
- there is a lot of talk about new development and resilient, healthy communities, but we should not forget existing communities, make sure that any infrastructure for new development is actually delivered, and doesn't result in existing development being disadvantaged;
- Cheltenham and Gloucester are predominantly urban areas but much of Tewkesbury is more rural. We need to make sure that what are delivering works for our communities but also protects rural communities;
- In view of the housing crisis and the increasing number of homeless people, it is important that hard-to-reach groups, especially young people, take part in the consultation and share their priorities. The new plan will hopefully be part of the solution to the housing crisis;
- There is an emerging consensus that the actual consultation document isn't perfect largely due to combining the needs of other councils and councillors but while Citizen Lab will provide a broader means of consulting, it is important to acknowledge the drawbacks in the document, such as recognising nature recovery as an urgent priority but not mentioning it in the vision and objectives in the Regulation 18 document, and mixing up climate mitigation and adaptation, which are different concepts;
- housing options needs to be addressed through supply a list of pros and cons isn't normal in a consultation document and while intensifying housing in city and town centres is welcome, more modest and small-scale development will help support rural communities. It seems that the list of cons outweighs the list of pros which gives a misleading impression about where the council is coming from:
- The consultation document is problematic, but the actual drafts of the Strategic and Local Plan will be a significant improvement on this.

In summing up, the Leader said she had heard all the very valid points and agreed that this is not a perfect document, but it is important that we see it as an opportunity to make our thoughts known. As Members, we are all ambassadors of our communities and can encourage and support residents to express their views. She said a summary will be produced, and it is all about effective communication. She added that the health and well-being aspect missing from the consultation is already being looked at – the council is engaged by the Health and Wellbeing Board, drawing in the NHS and Public Health.

RESOLVED THAT:

- 1. The Strategic and Local Plan Consultation Document (Appendix 1) is approved for consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012;
- 2. Authority is delegated to the Director of Communities & Economic Development, in consultation with the Leader, to prepare visual representations to illustrate the general location of development options

for inclusion in the consultation document, and to make any other necessary minor amendments, corrections and additions to the document prior to publication for consultation;

3. The update provided at appendix 3 in respect of the Honeybourne Line extension debated at Council on 19th June 2023 is noted.

14 Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury: Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee

The Leader began her introduction by saying our approach to Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been of keen interest to Council, with reports last year adding greater transparency and governance. She continued to make the following points:

- Planning Committee Members will already be seeing changes in reporting, with
 planning improvements driven forward as we work through the improvement plan
 developed in response to this year's Planning Advisory Peer Review, but as
 previously reported, the CIL pot is only growing at a slow rate, due to the
 instalment policy included in our approved CIL policy, and the strategic
 allocations are not presenting on the anticipated trajectory;
- Members saw the positive work of the CIL Neighbourhood Panel earlier this year, when CIL money was allocated to a variety of neighbourhood projects, and as the strategic pot grows, appropriate governance needs to be put in place to start making allocations;
- This report provides Terms of Reference (TOR) for the Joint Committee and a refreshed Infrastructure List, much broader than the previous one and focussed on priorities recognising that a new Infrastructure Delivery Plan is needed to support the Strategic Local Plan;
- the CIL Joint Committee builds on the collaborative working with Gloucester and Tewkesbury, recognising that development outside our area has impacts on infrastructure in Cheltenham and enabling the councils to look collectively and strategically at the infrastructure demands affecting our area. Recognising that infrastructure costs are significant and far exceed the funding drawn from CIL, she said that working together offers opportunities to identify wider strategic funding sources where CIL can help match fund investment;
- we have reviewed our infrastructure list and identified Cheltenham's priorities, and this will be a foundation document for the work of the CIL Joint Committee;
- we are confined by our boundaries, restricted on building height, keen to avoid urban sprawl – so it is important that we remain in communication and work together with our partners for the benefit of all our residents at greater speed by pooling our resources;
- triggers for review have been written into the Terms of Reference to ensure we
 have safeguards to revisit this in the future if appropriate. For example, if a leftfield development in one area has the potential to create a significant impact on
 its infrastructure, there is legitimate rationale for all three councils to go back to
 each other to reconsider the particular instance;
- there is a lot for the CIL Joint Committee to do, but these are the basic terms of reference. It is important to note that each council will retain sovereignty in its decisions the committee has decision-making powers but not without the

consultation of each respective council, bolstered by membership – two from each authority (the leader and the relevant planning lead).

In response to a Member's question, the Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services explained how the pie chart on Page 258 of the report added up, and that the allocations for neighbourhood projects in parished and unparished areas amounted to roughly 7% each, 15% in total. He said a note could be added to future iterations to make this clearer.

In response to further Member questions, the Leader said that:

- regarding Gloucestershire County Council, whether it is satisfied with the report, and whether it will seek S106 agreements to be incorporated into planning permissions to cover education requirements, J10 and other essential infrastructure not covered by CIL, she said it sits on the Joint Advisory Group (JAG) and has been involved in all dialogue so far;
- since the report was published, we have had discussions with the county about the infrastructure list. Members are aware of the financial challenges arising from key infrastructure projects, and the need to give the government confidence that no stone is being left unturned, and also the need to seek contributions from the county – S106 is its preferred route for major highways projects and education, but in reality these will need to be a blend of S106 and CIL, as the CIL pot will not be big enough. An amendment would help clarify this;
- the terms of reference have gone through all three authorities, and the joint advisory group will be replaced by the CIL Joint Committee, which will be properly formulated, more transparent, open and accountable than the joint advisory group. Once agreed, the panel will comprise the leader and one other from each council (this will be the planning portfolio holder from CBC) and a Chair will be elected:
- the council has been accused of sitting on CIL money, but the relationship with the county council has improved greatly over the last few years.

In debate, Members made the following comments:

- congratulations to the Leader on negotiating the joint terms of reference. For clarification, these are for the CIL Joint Committee - the Joint Administration Group (JAG) will continue for strategic and local planning generally, with the CIL committee replacing it in terms of CIL but not in total;
- recommendations 3 and 4 are really important safeguards. With current contributions to the £11.9m CIL pot being Gloucester approximately £1.5m, Cheltenham approximately £2.5m, and Tewkesbury £8m, the pooling of 80% for strategic infrastructure will bring huge benefits for Cheltenham, provided we get a vote on what goes into the final list. In previous years, the priority has basically been £56m to be spent on roads, rather than the liberal democrat goal of a more holistic approach to infrastructure. There is now a much broader range of products in the infrastructure list, including green transport, cycling hubs, EV charging points, health infrastructure, upgraded recycling all the things we should be looking at and the council will be able to vote on these important items:
- we are clearly entering into a new and welcome era of collaborative working with our neighbours and the county council, although it will be a challenging process

- and there is still a long way to go with £11.9m in the pot and bids from the three authorities amounting to £32m. It would be interesting to know how far the infrastructure list reflects our corporate ambitions and policies, and how it will add more value to town; hopefully it can be changed and added to as new projects come along;
- the list includes some very welcome projects for Cheltenham, including the Petersfield Community and Sports Hub, enhancements round railway station, improvements the cycle ways, and public realm work for the High Street. Gloucester and Tewkesbury have also put in requests, but there don't seem to be any requests for funding from the county council. There needs to be something to record what the county is doing as a strategic partner, such as providing finance for hospitals and many other things. This is a concern the county enters into S106 agreements for strategic items, including schools and J10, but is there a cast iron guarantee that if it bids for that funding, it will get it?;
- on smaller-scale planning applications where a county councillor has highlighted
 the need for an S106 agreement to deal with 400% over-subscribed parking and
 planning authority has not acted on this, it can be difficult to explain this to
 residents who assume all councils are working for the public good. We need to
 make sure that the four authorities and other areas of public service are aligned
 to serve the public. This needs to be looked at in more detail;
- Junction 10 is on hold at the moment, with no immediate prospect of government funding, yet on that hangs 5k houses, and a link road to the cyber park development and employment land. This has been in discussion for 12 years, with the cost increasing from £25m to the current £127m; it must be sorted with the county and partner councils as \$106 payments will not cover it although housing on the NW extension will pay a levy towards it;
- working across councils is challenging but the list of projects is really important, as we will need the infrastructure to go with any new houses we approve.
 Pooling of funds is very much in Tewkesbury's interest as residents in Bishops Cleeve, Churchdown, Shurdington, Tewkesbury and other outlying TBC areas come to consume local services in Cheltenham and Gloucester it is not in TBC's interest for their CIL money to be spent in Tewkesbury only as their residents would ultimately lose out.

In response and summing up, the Leader made the following observations:

- the county council has been fully engaged with the process and made a big difference, consulting with wider stakeholders. The report references some of the county list, including mass transit, GP surgeries, express bus service and cycle links, but it is important to remember that this is an interim list and a living document which will change with the times. Some of the original highway works already gone back to the county with work in progress, paid by the county;
- CIL and strategic planning have been under discussion for a long time, which is
 why we sought advice from the Planning Advisory Service on how to approach
 this only by working together will we be able to benefit residents across all
 three districts. So far, negotiations have been successful, with the three councils
 being realistic about what they can achieve together;
- Gloucester will make its final decision at Council on 25th January, and Tewkesbury is programming its decision making for the new year. Once all three Councils have agreed, the CIL Joint Committee will convene, a Chair will be elected, and work can start.

RESOLVED THAT:

- the establishment of a Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee under s101(5) and s102 Local Government Act 1972 and under Part 1A Chapter 2 Section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and pursuant to the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012 is agreed;
- 2. the Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee Terms of Reference, as appended to this report (Appendix 2) are agreed;
- 3. the pooling of strategic Community Infrastructure Levy monies by the three partner Councils of Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury with governance as set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee Terms of Reference is agreed;
- 4. the Infrastructure List for those items relating to the administrative area of Cheltenham Borough is reviewed and approved, and this list will be combined with the lists of Gloucester, Tewkesbury and Gloucestershire County Council to form the basis of the work of the Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee.
- 5. engagement will be entered into with wider infrastructure providers (e.g. NHS, emergency services, Environment Agency etc.) outside the local authorities to identify any wider infrastructure priorities to be considered by the Community Infrastructure Levy Joint Committee.

15 Adoption of Cheltenham's Animal Welfare Charter

The Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services introduced his report, updating an old policy adopted ahead of its time in the 1980s. He made the following points:

- a number of issues have arisen since then such as the ban on wild animals in circuses, pets as prizes, and hunting on council-owned land – but in addition this new charter takes account of the latest thinking about concepts such as sentience and animal rights, which requires that they are treated with humanity and care;
- the charter covers a wide range of things relevant to council operations, and highlighted a slight glitch in the wording of Paragraph 2.13:

The authority will not support the killing of animals unless they present a risk to human health and safety. Where there is a need for the authority to kill and control animals, it will seek to employ safe and humane methods where reasonably possible and practicable.

- this should be read in the context of pest control, and understood to mean that the authority will not support the killing of animals in council operations such as pest control unless they present a risk to human health and safety. As an example, he said the killing of animals as required by law in the case of pest infestations would be supported, but not the killing of animals to protect a lawn damaged by wildlife;
- some areas are outside our control, but as a responsible local authority, we should encourage good practice with residents (such as tethering of horses, and humanity towards animals), and also put on record the council motion requesting government reduce the decibel level for fireworks to relieve the distress and upset caused to pets and wildlife.

In conclusion, he said this is an important issue which says something about Cheltenham as a civilised society and town, making animal welfare a priority and putting on record our commitment to respect animal rights.

In response to questions, the Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory services confirmed that that:

- Paragraph 2.11 of the report could be amended with the addition of a word to make proper sense: The authority has given a commitment to do whatever it reasonably can to rehome stray dogs unless there is veterinary advice to the contrary;
- whether or not the ban of hunting on council-owned land should extend to include other hunt-type activities such as trail hunts, exercising dogs and cubbing was an interesting point and may need further debate and clarification in a future iteration of the charter, but at the moment it should be taken that 'hunting' implies that a living animal is being hunted;
- whilst acknowledging that seagulls continue to be a nuisance to many residents, Paragraph 21 of the charter reflects the law and what can be done to discourage seagulls. After many hours of debate in the past, the policy is more or less settled and considered to be reasonable and proportionate, reflecting the legal constraints we must work under;
- he could not say whether pesticides and herbicides were likely to affect the chemicals used in the 'War on Wee'. He commended the Cabinet Member for Waste, Recycling and Street Services for his efforts to achieve effective weed control while continuing to encourage biodiversity, but said he would ask officers to consider the Member's question and forward a response;
- regarding measures that could be taken to stop people from feeding and encouraging animals, either deliberately or through laziness, he said Section 26 of the policy refers to litter and broadly covers the harm it can do to domestic and wild animals. The council has recently increased fines for littering and anti-social behaviour.

In debate, Members made the following comments:

- Cheltenham is an animal-friendly and animal-loving town, and it is good to note that the council is working on discouraging the use of pets as prizes on private land as well as council-owned land;

- thanks to the Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services and officers for their hard work on getting all the details right in this all-encompassing charter. It can presumably be reviewed in the future if necessary.

In summing up, the Cabinet Member for Customer and Regulatory Services welcomed the support of Members and confirmed that the charter would be subject to on-going review, refinement and improvement in the future.

RESOLVED THAT:

the proposed Animal Welfare Charter for Cheltenham attached at Appendix
 2 of the report is adopted.

16 Annual Carbon Footprint Report 2022-23

The Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency said it was her privilege to hold that portfolio and to bring an update on CBC's carbon footprint to Members, particularly as the important figure of 15.1% net carbon reduction is higher than the 14% annual reduction required for us to get to net zero by 2030. She said we should be proud of the progress made this year, as she is proud to be leading a climate team that invests tirelessly in communities through mutual aid programmes, as well as supporting teams such as Planet Cheltenham and the Cheltenham Zero project which has come a long way, thanks particularly to the dedicated work of Becky Sillence.

She was also proud of the financial support and mentorship CBC will be providing to small and medium-sized businesses in the new year, and the retrofit funding to be released to community organisations from churches to scout huts – this is vital social infrastructure and particularly important in the cost of living crisis.

Another source of pride are the newly-fitted solar panels at Cheltenham Town Football Club, the first major Cheltenham Green Deal part-funded project, a visionary and exciting idea which she took on from Councillor Wilkinson. Few projects so completely represent tackling the climate crisis in a sustainable and financially responsible way, while investing in something people love to ensure that it lasts.

Frequently asked whether we can reach the Net Zero target by 2030, she said this year shows how that is possible. We have made substantial progress over last year against the Carbon Disclosure Practice Scorecard – a global gold standard policy paper designed for benchmarking cities across the world on their progress against key targets. We have gone from Grade D to Grade B on important matters such as mitigation and adaptation, and will soon be over and above the regional and global average – a exciting and important achievement for Cheltenham.

In conclusion, she thanked Maizy and the climate team for their incredible work, teams across CBC for being part of the collaborative effort, Paul Jones for his

support and belief in the Green Deal, Claire Hughes for her support with more challenging public engagement matters, and finally Ubico and their staff for the work to reduce carbon.

In response to Members' questions, the Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency confirmed that:

- she already reports annually to Overview and Scrutiny, and feels her report benchmarks progress on previous issues. She would be happy to hear any suggestions of performance indicators or other ways of benchmarking;
- Cheltenham Trust is important and has a huge role to play in helping Cheltenham reach its targets, and this year's report includes more accurate figures on the different sites, providing an exciting starting point on how to work with them on carbon reduction. With a clear picture of what progress needs to look like, there will be many opportunities there, together with CBH properties. She will be working closely on both.

There was no debate, but the Leader put on record her personal thanks to the Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency, for taking on this role and driving it forward in sometimes difficult circumstances. CBC now has an amazing team in place to continue the journey.

The Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency thanked the Leader for giving her the role and the support to make it possible.

RESOLVED THAT:

- 1. a 2030 Net Zero Delivery programme will be put together, outlining costing against key priority items, that highlights the steps for addressing emission reduction across scope 1 and 2 emissions, alongside a robust plan to address mitigation of any residual emissions;
- 2. capability gaps across the organisation are identified and a revised structure proposed within the climate & flooding team to sustain delivery against the plan.
- 3. a risk management programme for climate and flooding risks is identified, alongside review of the Climate Impact Assessment to support its efficacy as a decision-making tool.

17 Annual report of Overview and Scrutiny

The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee (O and S) said it had been an exciting couple of months since her election, and she had been trying to meet the expectation set by her deeply missed predecessor, Councillor Payne. She was proud of the progress and wide range of issues examined by O and S. Members will be aware of the recent call-in, the first for some years, which resulted in productive

discussion and the formation of a task group which she hoped would replicate the great work done by Multiple Deprivation task group earlier this year.

Inclusion and public consultation is a priority, and other key issues include looking at MX, discussions with Publica through their challenging situations, and feeding ideas into the culture strategy and tourism. She was looking forward to seeing what would be achieved in the year ahead, in particular a potential scrutiny task group dedicated to accessibility, an issue which Councillor Tooke has asked to be examined.

Finally, she thanked Democratic Services for helping her adjust to the role and facilitating invaluable training

There were no Member questions, but in debate, Members commented as follows:

- Thanks to several people involved with the Multiple Deprivation Scrutiny Task Group who have now left CBC: former Councillor John Payne, who did a huge amount as chair and was a great partner; Darren Knight, who has now moved to a different authority with a well-deserved promotion, based on the work delivered with O and S; Harry Mayo, who created the report; and Richard Gibson and his team who are tasked with delivery and monitoring of recommendations and do a fantastic job. It is important that we took time to look closely at pockets of deprivation in the town, speak to people in front line dealing with it, and look at what we and our partners can do to help;
- Thanks to the Chair for stepping up to the role;
- O and S is a lot more structured now than it was a few years ago, thanks to the chairmanship of former Councillor Mason, and we should all be mindful of the best practice of having opposition Members on O and S to scrutinise the Cabinet's agenda.

In summing up, the Chair added her thanks to officers for their ongoing hard work.

RESOLVED THAT:

- the Annual Report of Overview and Scrutiny 2022-23 is noted.

18 Revisions to the Constitution

As a vital part of CBC's governance and a document that needs constant updating, the Leader was delighted to bring forward the next phase of the ongoing review of the council's constitution, as recommended by the constitution working group. The paper includes suggested updates to the summary and explanation part of the constitution, the financial rules and limits, the appendices, both the planning code of conduct and probity in licensing documents and the introduction of a budget council meeting protocol, with sections made simpler and more accessible.

She highlighted the following:

 budget protocol reflects the practice that has been followed by this council at the budget-setting meeting for many years. Documenting the process makes it more open and transparent to the public and it means that councillors are aware of how the meeting will operate sufficiently in advance. It also means there will no longer be a need to suspend standing orders;

- both the planning code of conduct and the probity in licensing documents have been reviewed and approved by the respective committees before coming forward to council. It is important that these, which sit alongside our code of conduct, are kept up to date and that members abide by them;
- the main changes to the financial rules reflect the return of finance services from Publica. Some minor changes to thresholds, identified in the documents, reflect the current economic position and facilitate the principles of good decision making;
- the review of appendices and a move towards using more links to the website means that we can ensure that information remains up to date and removes duplication.

She thanked the Monitoring Officer and the constitution working group for their hard work in making the document much easier to navigate.

In response to two Members' questions, the Leader confirmed that the issue of the public question deadline being set before agendas are published, making it impossible for a member of the public to submit a written question on any agenda item, had been raised before and considered by the Constitution Working Group. She said it was decided not to change the deadline as questions can still be asked by ward councillors. Although the deadline for Member questions is also before the publication date, Members can ask questions during the meeting. It was suggested that this is something that the Constitution Working Group might like to look at again.

In debate, Members made the following comments:

- the update to the Planning Code of Conduct is welcomed it is easy to read and understand and gives absolute clarity to the roles of Members and Officers. It would be helpful for the document to be circulated to all Members of Planning Committee as a matter of course:
- allowing public speakers up to five minutes instead of three is a positive way forward;
- Another important change is the training regime, which has slipped a little in the last few years but will be more structured going forward, with Planning Committee Members required to attend at least two training sessions a year;
- All new councillors are recommended to read the constitution it sets out the way the council operates, and is a living and breathing document which changes with time when necessary;
- The Licensing Probity Guidance is also important, in particular the changes to lobbying rules. Any Members with concerns about contentious applications are urged to read the guidance on lobbying to ensure that they are complying with probity guidance – the ways to raise concerns are clearly documented, with the statutory timescales.

The Leader thanked Members for their contributions, and conveyed the thanks of all councillors to all officers this year and wish them a Happy Christmas.

RESOLVED THAT:

- 1. the revised Part 1: Summary and Explanation (Appendix 1) is approved;
- 2. the budget protocol for inclusion into the Constitution (Appendix 2) is approved;
- 3. the updated financial rules (part 4H) is approved;
- 4. the revised financial limits in parts 3D and 3E is approved;
- 5. the revised Planning Code of Conduct is approved;
- 6. the revised Probity in Licensing document is approved;
- 7. current appendices A, B, C, E and L are deleted from the Constitution;
- 8. authority is delegated to the Monitoring Officer to make the necessary changes to the Constitution to reflect these decisions.

19 Notices of Motion

There were none.

20 Any other item the Mayor determines as urgent and which requires a decision

There were no urgent items.

The Mayor thanked Members for their contributions throughout the year, and officers for all their hard work.

This page is intentionally left blank

Cheltenham Borough Council

Council - 23 February 2024

Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers

Accountable member:

Councillor Peter Jeffries, Cabinet Member Finance and Assets

Accountable officer:

Jayne Gilpin, Head of Revenues and Benefits

Ward(s) affected:

ΑII

Key Decision: Yes

Executive summary:

In December 2018 this Council approved a council tax discount scheme for care leavers using its discretionary powers under section 13A(1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. This report proposes changes to the scheme from April 2024.

Recommendations:

1. That Council approves the Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers scheme in Appendix 2

1. Implications

1.1 Financial, Property and Asset implications

The Council is responsible for the full cost of any council tax reductions awarded under section 13A (1)(c) of The Local Government Finance Act 1992. Gloucestershire County Council has already agreed to fund its share of any care leaver discounts awarded. Following discussions with Section 151 Officers a further agreement has been made for Gloucestershire County Council to fund its share of the council tax in respect of discounts awarded as a result of the extension to the scheme detailed in this report. This Council will be required to fund its own and the Police share of the cost.

The total cost each year will be dependent on the number of care leavers living in Cheltenham that

meet the eligibility criteria. The cost in 2022/23 and 2023/24 to date are detailed in point 2.5 of this report. The numbers will increase as a result of these recommendations and therefore the cost will increase proportionately.

Signed off by: Gemma Bell, Director of Finance and Assets gemma.bell@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.2 Legal implications

Section 13A(1)(c)of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) gives the Council
discretion to reduce the amount of council tax payable to individual cases or by determining a class
of case.

Signed off by: One Legal, Senior Lawyer, legalservices@onelegal.org.uk

1.3 Environmental and climate change implications

There are no environmental and climate change implicates arising from the content of the report or recommendations.

Signed off by: Maizy McCann, Climate Emergency Officer, Maizy.McCann@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.4 Corporate Plan Priorities

This report contributes to the following Corporate Plan Priorities:

- Ensuring residents, communities and businesses benefit from Cheltenham's future growth and prosperity
- Being a more modern, efficient and financially sustainable council

1.5 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Implications

This report proposes to extend the discount scheme already in place to directly support care leavers by reducing the council tax they would otherwise be expected to pay. Care leavers up to the age of 22 already benefit from this financial support which provides assistance whilst they develop independent lives and life skills. The proposal to extend the age limit to 25 will not impact negatively on people who have Protected Characteristics and as no negative impacts have been identified an equality impact assessment is not required.

1.6 Performance management – monitoring and review

The impact of these changes will be monitored closely and reviewed with the other Gloucestershire districts and Gloucestershire County Council

2 Background

2.1 Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 gives this Council, as a billing authority, discretionary powers to reduce the amount of council tax payable in individual cases or for classes of case. This includes reducing the amount payable to nil.

- 2.2 Care leavers are not exempt from paying council tax and In December 2018 this Council approved a policy using its discretionary powers to award council tax reductions to care leavers aged 18 to 21 who were formerly in the care of Gloucestershire County Council.
- 2.3 In conjunction with the county council a common discount scheme was agreed by all six Gloucestershire districts, ensuring consistent support to care leavers across Gloucestershire. The current scheme provides for a full exemption from council tax where care leavers live alone and a 50% discount where they live with others, who are not care leavers.
- 2.4 Legislation dictates that any reduction awarded using Section 13a must be funded in full by the billing authority. However, Gloucestershire County Council agreed to fund its share of the cost of any care leaver discounts awarded, proportionate to its share of the council tax.
- 2.5 In 2022/23 discounts were awarded to 15 care leavers at a total cost of £7,100. This council's contribution was £1,854. So far in 2023/24 15 discount have been awarded totalling £8,900 at a cost to this Council of £2,300.
- 2.6 In May 2023, the Department for Education's National Advisor for Care Leavers undertook a review of Gloucestershire's offer to Care Leavers and made a number of recommendations. The six Gloucestershire districts and Gloucestershire County Council have worked together to incorporate the recommendations into the discount schemes which improves the offer to care leavers and maintains the consistent approach across the county.

3 Reasons for Recommendation

- 3.1 Care leavers are considered to be a particularly vulnerable group for council tax debt. Moving to independent accommodation and managing finances for the first time is challenging. Care leavers are faced with a new set of potentially overwhelming responsibilities, without the family support and wider network that most other young people can rely on.
- 3.2 The recommendations made following the review included extending the scheme so that care leavers up to the age of 25 are eligible and to include care leavers who were previously in the care of other local authorities as well as those previously in the care of Gloucestershire County Council. All six Gloucestershire districts are recommending that the care leaver discount scheme is amended from April 2024 to include these changes.
- 3.3 Gloucestershire County Council has agreed to fund its share of all discounts awarded, proportionate to its share of the council tax, including those awarded to care leavers previously in care outside of Gloucestershire.

4 Care Leavers Discount Scheme

- 4.1 The Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers in appendix 3 sets out the full eligibility criteria and administrative arrangements.
- 4.2 From April 2024 a full exemption will be available for care leavers between the age of 18 and 25 where they live alone. A 50% discount will be available where they live with others, who are not care leavers. The discounts are awarded after any other discounts and council tax support.
- 4.3 The relevant team at Gloucestershire County Council liaises with the Revenues and Benefits teams to provide the necessary information to enable discounts to be awarded. Care leavers from outside of

the area will be asked to provide confirmation from the relevant local authority.

5 Alternative options considered

5.1 None. The Care Leavers Discount Scheme will form part of an overall package to prepare Care Leavers for independence and will support them in making an effective social and financial transition from Local Authority care. Ultimately it will help to improve the life chances of looked after children.

6 Consultation and feedback

7 No direct consultation has been taken in relation to the implementation of this scheme.

8 Key risks

8.1 The risks are in appendix 1

Report author:

Jayne Gilpin, Head of Revenues and Benefits, jayne.gilpin@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:

- i. Risk Assessment
- ii. Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers

Background information:

- 1. The Local Government Finance Act 1992 amended by Section 10 of The Local Government Finance Act 2012 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/contents
- 2. https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/documents/s27476/2018 12 10 COU Local Council Tax Support Scheme Appendix%206 Equality%20Impact%20Assessment.pdf

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

Risk ref	Risk description	Risk owner	Impact score (1-5)	Likelihood score (1-5)	Initial raw risk score (1 - 25)	Risk response	Controls / Mitigating actions	Control / Action owner	Deadline for controls/ actions
	If changes to the council tax discount scheme for care leavers are not approved then Care Leavers living in Cheltenham will be disadvantaged, particularly if other Councils in	Jayne Gilpin	2	1	2	Accept	Approve the scheme	Jayne Gilpin	23/02/2024 P
	Gloucestershire adopt the changes, leading to a potential reputational risk								Page 41
	If there is a significant increase in the number of eligible care leavers then the annual costs may increase significantly	Jayne Gilpin	1	3	3	Accept	Monitor ad review cases	Jayne Gilpin	23/02/2024

Appendix 2

Cheltenham Borough Council

Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers April 2024

1. Background

The government made recommendations in its care leavers strategy "Keep on Caring" published in July 2016, that local authorities should consider exempting care leavers from council tax, using their existing discretionary powers under Section 13a of the local Government Finance Act 1992. Many Councils have since introduced discounts for care leavers.

The 6 Gloucestershire District Councils (billing authorities) and Gloucestershire County Council worked together to agree a common council tax discount scheme for Care Leavers up to the age of 22 from April 2019.

It was agreed in December 2023 that the discount scheme should be extended to enable a better outcome for Care Leavers within Gloucestershire. From April 2024 Care Leavers up to the date of their 25th birthday will be eligible.

Discounts made using this power have to be funded by the billing authority. Gloucestershire County Council, by agreement, will fund its share of the cost of any Care Leavers discounts proportionate to its share of the council tax.

2. Legal Provision

Billing authorities have discretion under Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to reduce the amount of council tax payable for individuals, or for classes of council taxpayer. This includes the power to reduce the amount payable to nil.

This provision is separate to and distinct from the Council Tax support scheme which is made under Section 13A(1)(a) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. It allows the Council to reduce the amount payable after all statutory discounts and exemptions and local council tax support.

3. Eligibility Criteria

- From 01 April 2019 to 31 March 2024 an eligible care leaver, for the purpose of this policy, is defined as a young person aged 18 21 who was formerly a child in the care of Gloucestershire County Council and then became a 'Former Relevant Child' as defined by The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000. The Care Leaver must be resident and liable for council tax in respect of a property within the Cheltenham Borough Council area. A Care Leaver will cease to qualify for the discount from the date of their 22nd birthday.
- From 01 April 2024 an eligible care leaver, for the purpose of this policy, is defined as a young person aged 18 – 24 who was formerly a child in the care of a local Authority and then became a 'Former Relevant Child' as defined by The Children (Leaving

Care) Act 2000. The Care Leaver must be resident and liable for council tax in respect of a property within the Cheltenham Borough Council area. A Care Leaver will cease to qualify for the discount from the date of their 25th birthday.

- The Care Leaver must be the liable person for council tax, either solely or jointly and severally with other(s), at the dwelling in respect of which the application is made. The council tax bill must be in their name.
- Where a Care Leaver lives in a house in multiple occupation or other property where they are not the council taxpayer no discount will be awarded
- The Care Leaver discount will apply to occupied properties only.
- Confirmation that a claimant is a Gloucestershire County Council Former Relevant Child must be received from Gloucestershire's 11-25 Permanency Service.
- Where the care leaver is a Former Relevant Child in the care of a local authority other than Gloucestershire the care leaver will be required to provide confirmation from the relevant authority.
- No discounts will be awarded without the confirmation from the relevant authority.

4. Care Leaver Discount

Care Leavers that meet the eligibility criteria above will be eligible to apply for a discretionary council tax discount as follows.

- Where a property is solely occupied by Care Leaver(s) 100% discount will be awarded
- Where a Care Leaver is in occupation and jointly liable with others 50% discount will be awarded

The Care Leaver discretionary discount will be awarded after statutory discounts, exemptions, disability discount and local council tax support.

5. Application Process and Administration

Gloucestershire County Council's 11-25 Permanency Service will provide information to confirm the name, address and date of birth of Care Leavers, living in the Cheltenham area who will qualify for the discount.

A Care Leaver discount may also be awarded where the following information is provided and the Care Leaver status has been verified with Gloucestershire County Council's 11-25 Permanency Service.

An application should provide the following information:

- Full name
- Date of birth
- Current address
- Details of any other adults in the property and relationship to them

- Details of any circumstances that would be relevant to entitlement to legislative
- discounts, disregards or exemptions
- Contact details
- Name of Leaving Care Worker if known

Awards will be made directly by a discount in council tax liability and notification of the discount being awarded will be by way of the council tax bill.

The Revenues and Benefits Service will undertake periodic reviews appropriate to the individual circumstances of each case.

The care leaver (or his/her appointee or a recognised third party acting on his/her behalf) must advise Cheltenham Borough Council of any change in circumstances which may affect entitlement to the discount within 21 days of the change occurring.

Any overpaid Care Leaver discount will be reclaimed through the relevant council tax account and collected and recovered under the Council tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992.

6. Review of Decision / Backdating

The care Leaver discount Scheme is administered in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and is subject to a statutory appeals process. If the applicant disagrees with the decision they must put this in writing giving their reasons. This should normally be received by Cheltenham Borough Council within a month of the date of the decision although more time can be given in exceptional circumstances.

If a decision is challenged a reconsideration will be made by the Executive Director Finance, assets and Regeneration. The applicant will then be notified of the reconsideration which will clearly state the reasons for the decision made.

If the applicant remains dissatisfied with the decision, an appeal may be made to the independent Valuation Tribunal. Further details on this process will be notified to the applicant with the outcome of any previous review of the decision.

The Council will accept applications backdated to the beginning of the financial year, or to the date the care leaver became responsible for council tax so long as the date is not more than 12 months prior to the date of the application. The Care Leaver discount cannot be awarded prior to 1st April 2019 for care leavers aged 18 to 21 and cannot be awarded prior to 01 April 2024 for care leavers aged 22 to 24.



Cheltenham Borough Council

Council – 23 February 2024

Council Tax Premiums on Empty Homes and Second

Homes

Accountable member:

Councillor Peter Jeffries, Cabinet Member Finance, Assets and Regeneration

Accountable officer:

Jayne Gilpin, Head of Revenues and Benefits

Ward(s) affected:

ΑII

Key Decision: Yes

Executive summary:

The Council has discretionary powers to impose a council tax premium on empty homes. The Levelling up and Regeneration Act 2023 makes changes to the premium and introduces a new premium for second homes. This report makes recommendations to implement the changes.

Recommendations:

- That Council approves the change to the Empty Homes Premium so that properties which have been unoccupied and unfurnished for one year, instead of two, will become subject to the 100% premium from April 2025.
- 2. That Council approves the implementation of the 100% Second Homes Premium from April 2025.
- 3. That Council gives delegated authority to the Executive Director for Finance Assets and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance and Assets to amend the policy so that it meets the requirements of any guidance/ regulations due to be issued by Government and to ensure the premiums are administered efficiently.

1. Implications

1.1 Financial, Property and Asset implications

The proposed changes will generate additional council tax income from 2025/26 proportionate to the share of council tax. However, the estimate is based on current caseloads which will change and they are also likely to be reduced once the Government confirms the expected exceptions. The income will also reduce as properties subject to a premium are brought in to use as homes.

It should be noted that these changes will also impact on the Housing Revenue Account if there are Council owned properties that meet the qualifying criteria

Signed off by: Gemma Bell, Director of Finance and Assets gemma.bell@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.2 Legal implications

The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 amends the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as follows

Long-term empty dwellings

Section 79 of the 2023 act amends Section 11b of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 so that for financial years beginning on or after 1 April 2024 dwellings unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for a continuous period of at least one year, instead of two years, are subject to the council tax premium

Dwellings occupied periodically

Section 80 of the 2023 inserts a new Section 11(C) of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 giving the Council power, by determination, to charge a premium of 100% where there is no resident of a dwelling, and the dwelling is substantially furnished.

The first determination must be made at least one year before the beginning of the financial year to which it relates meaning this cannot come into effect before 1 April 2025. In respect of both in exercising its functions under both section 11B and 11C the Council must have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State.

There is a requirement to publish any determination made under section 11B or 11C in a local newspaper.

Section 67(2) of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that the power to decide to introduce a premium can only be exercised by full Council.

Signed off by: One Legal, legalservices@onelegal.org.uk

1.3 Environmental and climate change implications

None arising directly as a result of this report

Signed off by: Maizy McCann, Climate Emergency Officer, Maizy.McCann@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.4 Corporate Plan Priorities

This report contributes to the following Corporate Plan Priorities:

- Increasing the number of affordable homes
- Ensuring residents, communities and businesses benefit from Cheltenham's future growth and prosperity
- Being a more modern, efficient and financially sustainable council

1.5 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Implications

An equality impact assessment has been completed and is in Appendix 2 richard.gibson@cheltenham.gov.uk]

1.6 Performance management – monitoring and review

The impact of council tax premiums will be monitored closely and further changes will be considered as required

2 Background

- 2.1 Once a property becomes unoccupied and unfurnished a 25% council tax discount is awarded for up to 6 months. The full council tax is then payable until the property has been unoccupied and unfurnished for a period of two years, at which point a premium can be levied.
- 2.2 This Council has used its discretionary powers to levy a council tax premium on long term empty properties since April 2018. The decisions made support the Council's strategy to bring empty homes back in to use more quickly and generate additional council tax income.
- 2.3 Appendix 3 details the level of discount or premium implemented so far and the proposed changes from April 2025.
- 2.4 The current level of premium and the number of properties being charged are as follows:

Period property empty/level of premium	Number of properties subject to a premium at January 2024
100% premium on properties which have been empty for more than two years but less than five years	143
200% premium on properties which have been empty for five years or more but less than ten years	42
300% premium on properties which have been empty for ten years or more	4
Total	189

- 2.5 For council tax purposes all properties that are furnished but where no-one lives as their main home are classed as second homes.
- 2.6 The Council has used its discretionary powers to charge the maximum 100% council tax on second homes but currently is not able to levy a premium.
- 2.7 This means there is a loophole where properties that would be subject to the empty homes premium can be furnished so that they are classed as second homes instead and avoid paying the premium. The number of properties classed as second homes at January 2024 is 963.
- 2.8 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 introduced changes to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 which will allow the Council to charge the empty homes premium once properties have been empty for one year, instead of two. The act also introduced a new power to charge a premium on second homes.
- 2.9 Any determination to vary the empty homes premium must be made by council before the financial year in which it relates but the first decision to implement the second homes premium must be made by Council at least one year before the premium can be levied. The premium cannot therefore be charged before April 2025.
- 2.10 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 also includes a requirement for the Council to have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in respect of the premium for both long term empty and second homes. It is expected that guidance will be issued in due course setting exceptions from both the empty homes and second home premium.

3 Changes to the Empty Homes Premium

- 3.1 Currently the 100% premium on long term empty homes can be levied once the property has been unoccupied and unfurnished for a continual period of 2 years. The continual empty period starts from the date a property becomes unoccupied and unfurnished. It does not start again as a result of a change in owner or tenant.
- 3.2 The amendments made to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 change the definition of long term empty homes so that the 100% premium can be levied once a property has been unoccupied and unfurnished for a continual period of one year, rather than two.
- 3.3 The 100% premium will continue to apply until a property has been empty for five years when it increases to 200% and then 300% after ten years.
- 3.4 The Government has given strong indication that subsequent guidance will be issued requiring the council to apply certain exceptions to the empty homes premium. The exceptions could include circumstances such as where a property is undergoing probate or major repairs and where a property is actively being marketed for sale or rent.
- 3.5 There are currently 73 properties that have been empty between one and two years. The caseload is continually changing and due to any exceptions that may be applied the number of properties is expected to change. If the premium was levied on these cases, based on expected 2024/25 council tax levels this would generate additional income of approximately £13,500 for this Council.
- 3.6 The change to the empty homes premium can be effective from April 2024 but the recommendation is to implement the change from April 2025 which will be the same date as the second home

recommendation in this report. This will also allow time to publicise the changes and make owners, landlords and council taxpayers generally, aware of the change and consider taking action to bring their properties back in to use as a home.

4 Introduction of the premium on second homes

- 4.1 Currently a council tax premium can only be levied on long term empty properties and the maximum charge on properties classed as second homes is 100%.
- 4.2 The amendments made to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 gives billing authorities the power to levy a premium of up to 100% on properties where there is no resident and the property is substantially furnished (second homes).
- 4.3 As the decision to impose the second homes premium must be made by Council a full financial year before it takes affect the earliest it can be levied on relevant properties is April 2025.
- 4.4 As with the empty homes premium the Government has given strong indication that subsequent regulations or guidance will be issued requiring the council to apply certain exceptions to the second homes premium. The exceptions are likely to be the same as for the Empty Homes Premium.
- 4.5 The current number of properties classed as second homes is 963. As an indication the 100% premium applied on all of these properties would generate additional income of approximately £190,000 for this Council. However, the caseload will change and due to any exceptions that may be applied the number of properties is expected to reduce by April 2025, meaning this figure is expected to be lower.
- 4.6 A full review of all properties classed as second homes will be undertaken over the coming months and owners of all second homes will be contacted to notify the notified of the premium.
- 4.7 Some owners of second homes, where they are let for short term periods as holiday homes, may be able to have the properties classed as business properties and transferred from council tax to business rates. Due to the reliefs that are available the amount of business rates due to be paid may be considerably less than the council tax. The current rules for a property to be treated as a business require the owner to evidence that it was openly available to let for more than 140 nights in the current and previous tax years and that it was actually let for at least 70 nights in the previous 12 month period. The Valuation Office Agency (VOA) assesses the evidence and make the decision as to whether the property should be treated as council tax or business rates. The VOA is regularly monitoring any short term let holiday homes in business rates and where the requirements are not met they are moved back in to the council tax system.

5 Reasons for Recommendation

- 5.1 Reducing the number of long term empty properties is identified as a priority in the Council's Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy.
- 5.2 Empty homes and second homes can have a negative impact on local communities and contribute to the housing supply pressures. Long term empty properties in particular, are more likely to fall into disrepair and be subject to anti-social behaviour such as squatting or vandalism.
- 5.3 With increasing pressure to find homes for people in need levying the premium on empty homes and second homes is one of the powers available to the Council to incentivise owners to bring properties

in to use, for the benefit of all residents.

- 5.4 There are a number of enforcement options available to the Council and consideration will be given to acquiring long term empty homes, if necessary by way of Compulsory Purchase Order, and converting them into affordable homes. Using these enforcement powers will be considered in individual cases, based on the circumstances.
- 5.5 Guidance and/or regulations regarding exceptions that must be applied to both premiums are not yet available. Authority is being sought from Council for the Executive Director for Finance, Assets and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance and Assets to make the necessary amendments to include exceptions and any other changes necessary to administer the empty homes and second homes premium.

6 Next Steps

- 6.1 If Council approves the recommendations in this report details will be made available on the Council's website and communication will be made with council taxpayers to make them aware of the changes from April 2025.
- 6.2 Once details of any exceptions are known these will be incorporated into communication with council taxpayers and publicised on the website.
- 6.3 There is a legal requirement to publish any decision made regarding the premiums in a local newspaper within 21 days of the decision.

7 Alternative options considered

7.1 The Council could opt not to levy the empty homes premium when a property has been empty for between one and two years or to levy the second homes premium. This would not incentivise owners to bring properties in and support the Council's strategy to increase housing supply

8 Consultation and feedback

8.1 The Government undertook an extensive consultation on these proposals during July and August 2023.

9 Key risks

9.1 The risks are in appendix 1

Report author:

Jayne Gilpin, Head of Revenues and Benefits, Jayne.gilpin@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:

- i. Risk Assessment
- ii. Equalities Impact Assessment

iii. Council Tax discounts on empty properties

Background information:

- 1. The Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/14/contents
- 2. The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

Risk ref	Risk description	Risk owner	Impact score (1-5)	Likelihood score (1-5)	Initial raw risk score (1 - 25)	Risk response	Controls / Mitigating actions	Control / Action owner	Deadline for controls/ actions
	If it becomes difficult to collect the higher council tax or owners use tactics to avoid the premium then the additional income, even after the exemptions, may not be fully realised	Jayne Gilpin	2	3	6	Accept	monitoring	Jayne Gilpin	23/02/2024 and ongoing
	If owners continue to leave properties empty or as second homes the number properties in these categories will not reduce		1	1	2	Accept	Monitor and consider enforcement action in individual cases	Jayne Gilpin	and ongc 5

Community impact assessments – for services, policies and projects

Vhat is a community impact assessment?	
Background	
Step 1: About the service, policy or project	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Step 2: What do you already know about your existing and potential customers?	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Step 3: Assessing community impact	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Step 4: What are the differences?	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Step 5: Taking things forward	Error! Bookmark not defined.

What is a community impact assessment?

A community impact assessment is an important part of our commitment to delivering better services for our communities. The form will help us find out on what impact or consequences our functions, policies, procedures and projects have on our communities, as well as employees and potential employees

By undertaking an impact assessment, we are able to:

- 1. Take into account the needs, experiences and circumstances of those groups of people who use (or don't / can't use) our services.
- 2. Identify any inequalities people may experience.
- 3. Think about the other ways in which we can deliver our services which will not lead to inequalities.
- 4. Develop better policy-making, procedures and services.

Background

Name of service / policy / project and date	Revenues and Benefits. Council Tax Premiums from 1 April 2025
Lead officer	Jayne Gilpin, Head of Revenues and Benefits

Step 1 - About the service / policy / project

What is the aim of the service / policy / project and what outcomes is it contributing to

The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 amended the Local Government Finance Act 1992, giving additional discretionary powers to billing authorities in respect of charging a premium on long term empty properties and second homes. These powers are:

- To charge the premium once properties have been unoccupied and unfurnished for one year instead of two
- To implement a premium on empty properties that are unoccupied and furnished (second homes) for the first time from April 2025.

The proposal to exercise these discretionary powers and adopt the changes from April 2025 has the following on aims:

- Encourage owners of empty properties to bring them back in to occupation as a home
- Increase council tax income
- Ease housing supply pressures
- Reduce negative impacts, such as anti-social behaviour around empty homes
- Reductions in rental & market values on surrounding properties, desirability of an area

Who are the primary customers of the service / policy / project and how do they / will they benefit

Owners and other council taxpayers of properties which have been unoccupied and unfurnished for between one and two years and of second homes will be required to pay a higher level of council tax. The Government is due to make regulations so that in certain circumstances properties will be exempt from the premium

Local communities and residents of Cheltenham will benefit if properties are brought in to use to ease housing supply pressures

How and where is the service / policy / project implemented	Council tax billing and collection is undertaken in the Revenues and Benefits service
What potential barriers might already exist to achieving these outcomes	Council taxpayers impacted by these changes may choose to keep their properties empty of as a second home

Step 2 – What do you know already about your existing / potential customers

What existing information and data do you have about your existing / potential customers e.g. Statistics, customer feedback, performance information	Any council tax payer of an empty property or second home could be affected by these if they are implemented from April 2025. As an indication, based on information at January 2024: 73 properties have been empty for between one and two years 963 properties are classed as second homes
What does it tell you about who uses your service / policy and those that don't?	If the policy is adopted the premium will be charged on properties that meet the statutory criteria, subject to ar exemptions.
What have you learnt about real barriers to your service from any consultation with customers and any stakeholder groups?	There is no requirement to consult on these proposals. As the proposals will not come into effect until April 2025 All council taxpayers identified as being potentially impacted will be contacted. The decision will be published in a local newspaper and on the Council's website
If not, who do you have plans to consult with about the service / policy / project?	Not applicable.

Step 3 - Assessing community impactHow does your service / policy / project impact on different groups in the community?

Group	What are you already doing to benefit this group	What are you doing that might disadvantage this group	What could you do differently to benefit this group	No impact on this group
People from black and minority ethnic groups	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People who are male or female	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People who are transitioning from one gender to another	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
Older people / children and young people	A person must be over the age of 18 to be a council taxpayer otherwise. Communication with all potentially vulnerable people is handled sensitively	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People with disabilities and mental health challenges	No specific benefits identified for this group. Communication with all potentially vulnerable people is handled sensitively and with an identified third party	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People who have a particular religion or belief	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due

				to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People who are attracted to their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People who are married or in a Civil Partnership	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
People who are pregnant or who are on maternity leave	No specific benefits identified for this group	No specific disadvantages identified for this group	Nothing identified	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay
Other groups or communities	No specific benefits to these groups	No specific disadvantages to these groups or communities	There is no requirement to do things differently to benefit these groups	There may be an impact on some customers due to the higher level of council tax they will be required to pay

Step 4 - what are the differences

Are any groups affected in different ways to others as a result of the service / policy / project?	The Government is due to introduce some exemptions and these are expected to include circumstances such as where a property is undergoing probate or major repairs and where a property is actively being marketed for sale or rent. An increase in the level of council tax may cause financial difficulties for any council taxpayer. As appropriate the following measures may be adopted to support those impacted by these proposals Realistic payment arrangements Arrangements for balance to be paid form proceeds of sale Referral for financial assistance/debt advice Help and advice is available from the Council on how to sell or let a property Details of empty properties are shared with relevant teams within the Council who work with owners to help bring properties back into occupation as a home.
Does your service / policy / project either directly or indirectly discriminate?	No.
If yes, what can be done to improve this?	N/a Page 60
Are there any other ways in which the service / project can help support priority communities in Cheltenham?	The Council tax team will deal with cases on an individual basis and take account of any specific circumstances

Step 5 – taking things forward

What are the key actions to be carried out and how will they be resourced and monitored?	If the proposals are approved by Cabinet and the Council a notice will be published in a local newspaper and details will be on the Council's website. During the 12 month lead in time to when the changes take effect communication will be issued to council tax payers so that that are aware of the changes. With regards to second homes all cases will be reviewed and the status clarified.
Who will play a role in the decision-making process?	The council tax team will assess cases to determine the appropriate council tax liability. Any requests to reconsider will be made by the Senior Revenues Officer, Deputy Revenues and Benefits Manager or the Head of Revenues and Benefits
What are your / the project's learning and development needs?	Full training will be provided to Revenues and Benefits staff

How wi	II you cap	oture the	ese actions
in your	service /	project	planning?

The proposed changes will to be introduced from 1 April 2025. The activities required to review properties and communicate will be over several months and is not expected to impact significantly on service planning. However the implementation will forms part of the annual billing process in February 2025 and will be overseen by the Head of Revenues and Benefits and the Deputy Revenues and Benefits Manager.

This page is intentionally left blank

Empty Property Class	Discount/Premium Level up to and including 31 March 2019	Discount/Premium Level with effect from 01 April 2019	Discount/Premium Level with effect from 01 April 2020	Discount/Premium Level with effect from 01 April 2021	Discount/Premium Level with effect from 01 April 2025 These may be subject to further policy or legislative change prior to 01/04/2025
Class C Empty and unfurnished for up to 6 months	25% discount	25% discount for up to 6 months			
Class C Empty and unfurnished for more than 6 months but less than 2 years until 31/03/2025 then up to 1 year from 01/04/2025	Zero discount 100% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 6 months but less than 2 years	Zero discount 100% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 6 months but less than 2 years	Zero discount 100% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 6 months but less than 2 years	Zero discount 100% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 6 months but less than 2 years	Zero discount 100% council tax payabl where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 6 months but less than 1 year
Class C Premium on Long Term Empty Properties empty more than 2 years until 31/03/2025 then empty for 1 year from 01/04/2025	50% Premium 150% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 2 years	100% Premium 200% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 2 years	100% Premium 200% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 2 years, but less than 5 years	100% Premium 200% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 2 years, but less than 5 years	100% Premium 200% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 1 years, but less than 5 years

Class C Premium on Long Term Empty Properties — empty more than 5 years			200% premium 300% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 5 years	200% premium 300% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 5 years but less than 10 years	200% premium 300% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 5 years but less than 10 years
Class C Premium on Long Term Empty Properties — empty more than 10 years				300% premium 400% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 10 years	300% premium 400% council tax payable where properties have been empty and unfurnished for more than 10 years Exemptions may apply 64
Second Homes - properties which are furnished but not occupied as anyone's main home	Zero discount – 100% council tax payable	Zero discount – 100% council tax payable	Zero discount – 100% council tax payable	Zero discount – 100% council tax payable	100% Premium 200% council tax payable Exemptions may apply
Class D Empty and unfurnished and undergoing major works/structural repairs for up to 12 months *	25% discount for up to 12 months	25% discount for up to 12 months	25% discount for up to 12 months	25% discount for up to 12 months	25% discount for up to 12 months

In respect of all classes C and D If a property is re-occupied or substantially furnished for a period of less than 6 weeks this will be disregarded for the purposes of determining the date it became empty and unfurnished. No further discount will be awarded unless the property is re-occupied for a period more than 6 weeks

Cheltenham Borough Council

Council – 23 February 2024

Council Order of Precedence - Nominations for Mayor Elect

2024/25

Accountable member:
Leader, Councillor Rowena Hay
Accountable officer:
Chief Executive, Gareth Edmundson
Accountable scrutiny committee:
n/a
Ward(s) affected:
None directly

Key/Significant Decision:

No

Executive summary:

In accordance with the requirements of the Constitution, the Council will be asked to elect its Mayor and Deputy for the forthcoming Council year at its annual meeting on the 20 May 2024. In this respect the Council, as in previous years, has maintained an Order of Precedence for fulfilling these ceremonial roles which recognises the length of service a Councillor has provided to the communities of Cheltenham. The Order of Precedence is attached at Appendix 1.

Councillor Paul Baker has served as Deputy Mayor since last year's Annual and Selection Council Meeting. Pending the outcome of the borough elections on 2 May, Members will be asked to elect him as Mayor at this year's Annual and Selection Council Meeting.

The Members shown towards the head of the Order of Precedence in Appendix 2 have been approached to ascertain if they are willing and able to have their name put forward for appointment as Deputy Mayor for 2024-25. Members have highlighted that their decision on whether to put themselves forward for the role may depend on the results of the election so it is proposed that the nomination for Deputy Mayor is put to Annual and Selection Council on Monday 20 May.

Recommendations:

- 1. That Council notes the Order of Precedence in Appendix 2;
- 2. That, pending the outcome of the borough elections, Councillor Paul Baker be put to the Annual and Selection Council Meeting for election as Mayor for the Municipal year 2024–2025.
- 3. That the Councillor nomination for Deputy Mayor for the Municipal year 2024-2025 be put to the Annual and Selection Council Meeting for election.

1. Implications

1.1. Financial, Property and Asset implications

The allowances for Mayor and Deputy Mayor have been included in the budget for 2024-2025.

Signed off by: Gemma Bell, gemma.bell@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.2. Legal implications

Whilst the authority operates the Rules Relating To Order Of Precedence Of Members as a local convention, the Council has final discretion as to which Members it appoints as its Mayor and Deputy Mayor (Council chair and vice-chair)

Signed off by: One Legal, legal.services@onelegal.org.uk

1.3. Environmental and climate change implications

There are no direct implications, although the Mayor and Deputy Mayor will have a role to play in promoting the council's commitment to becoming a net zero carbon council and borough by 2030, and supporting the emerging Climate Emergency Action Plan: Pathway to Net Zero.

Signed off by: Maizy McCann, maizy.mccann@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.4. Corporate Plan Priorities

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor promote the corporate and community objectives in carrying out their role as civic heads.

Signed off by: Ann Wolstencroft, ann.wolstencroft@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.5 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Implications

N/A

1.6 Performance management – monitoring and review

N/A

2. Background

- **4.1** The rules relating to order of precedence of Members were amended by Council on 17 March 2008 and are set out in Appendix J in the Council's Constitution. They are and are attached as Appendix 1.
- 4.2 As part of that change, it was agreed that once a councillor has achieved the office of Mayor, they should remain at the bottom of the Order of Precedence in date order and should not be eligible to hold the office again until all those councillors above them on the Order of Precedence have either chosen not to accept the honour or do not qualify for selection.
- 4.3 In addition, it was agreed that a Member would not be eligible for consideration as Mayor unless they had a minimum of four years' service prior to taking up office and a minimum of three years' service prior to becoming Deputy Mayor
- 3. Reasons for recommendations
- **3.1.** The Council's Constitution provides that the Mayor and Deputy Mayor shall be elected at the Annual and Selection Council Meeting.
- **3.2.** The Constitution also provides that in order to assist the Council, the Chief Executive will maintain a list of members (called the "Order of Precedence") showing members' total service on the authority and, if appropriate their period of service since they served the Borough as its Mayor. This list is attached as Appendix 2.
- **3.3.** Whilst the Council must formally make these appointments at the Annual and Selection Council Meeting, in accordance with the Constitution, the Order of Precedence is presented to the first Council meeting in the calendar year.
- 4. Alternative options considered
- **6.1** Some councillors with longer service may formally decline to have their names put forward for the position of Deputy Mayor.
- 5. Consultation and feedback
- **7.1** Not applicable.
- 6. Key risks
- 8.1 N/A

Report author:

Bev Thomas, Democratic Services Team Leader

bev.thomas@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264 246

Appendices:

- i. Rules relating to order of Precedence of Members
- ii. Order of Precedence

Background information:

Council 14 April 2003 and 17 March 2008

THE RULES RELATING TO THE ORDER OF PRECEDENCE OF MEMBERS

- 1. The Chief Executive (or the Monitoring Officer on his or her behalf) will maintain a list of all members showing their precedence in terms of:
 - their service on Cheltenham Borough Council,

and this list will be referred to as "The Order of Precedence". It is only of relevance in the determination of the succession of the posts of Mayor and Deputy Mayor.

- 2. To be eligible for consideration as Mayor a member must have had a minimum of four years' service prior to taking up office.
- 3. To be eligible for consideration as Deputy Mayor a member must have had a minimum of three years' service prior to taking up office.
- 4. The Deputy Mayor appointed to serve as such in a particular municipal year will be elected Mayor for the following municipal year provided he or she is willing, and remains eligible, to accept that office.
- 5. If the Deputy Mayor is unwilling or ineligible to accept nomination as Mayor, the nomination will be offered by the Chief Executive, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to members in accordance with The Order of Precedence until a member is able to accept the nomination.
- 6. Not later than 31st December in any year the Chief Executive (or the Monitoring Officer on his or her behalf) will approach the member at the head of The Order of Precedence (other than the Deputy Mayor) to ascertain if he or she is willing to accept nomination as Deputy Mayor for the next municipal year.
- 7. If the member approached by, or on behalf of, the Chief Executive is unwilling or unable to accept the nomination, the Chief Executive (or the Monitoring Officer on his or her behalf) will approach members in accordance with The Order of Precedence until a member is able to accept the nomination.
 - The Chief Executive will inform the Council of the member's willingness to accept nomination at its first ordinary meeting in the new calendar year.
- The fact that a member approached by, or on behalf of, the Chief Executive is unwilling or unable to accept nomination as Deputy Mayor for a particular municipal year, shall not prevent that member being approached again in accordance with The Order of Precedence.
- 9. Where members have equal periods of service, a member with unbroken service on Cheltenham Borough Council will take precedence over a member with broken service.
- Members who have served the borough as Mayor will be moved to the bottom of the Order of Precedence and will only be considered for selection if no other member is interested in taking on the position of Deputy Mayor/Mayor or is eligible to do so.

- 11. The precedence between members who notwithstanding paragraph 9 have equal periods of service on Cheltenham Borough Council shall be decided by lot conducted prior to the first ordinary meeting of the Council following municipal elections.
- 12. Any questions arising as to the application of these rules shall be determined by the Chief Executive, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, and in consultation with the Group Leaders.

Councillor	Ballot	Ward	Political party	Next up for election	Eligible service for Mayor 2024	Mayor
Seacome, Diggory		Lansdown	Conservative	2024	24	0
Britter, Nigel		Benhall & The Reddings	Lib Dem	2024	23	0
Baker, Paul		Charlton Park	Lib Dem	2024	19	0
Hay, Rowena		Oakley	Lib Dem	2024	18	0
Jeffries, Peter	С	Springbank	Lib Dem	2024	14	0
Williams, Suzanne	А	Springbank	Lib Dem	2024	12	0
Harman, Tim	В	Park	Conservative	2024	12	0
Clucas, Flo	С	Swindon	Lib Dem	2024	10	0
Wilkinson, Max	D	Oakley	Lib Dem	2024	10	0
McCloskey,Paul	Α	Charlton Kings	Lib Dem	2024	8	0
Oliver, Tony	В	Warden Hill	Lib Dem	2024	8	0
Collins, Mike	D	Benhall & The Reddings	Lib Dem	2024	8	0
Willingham, David	F	St. Peter's	Lib Dem	2024	8	0
Dobie, lain	А	Warden Hill	Lib Dem	2024	6	0
Atherstone, Victoria	D	St.Peter's	Lib Dem	2024	6	0
Horwood, Martin,	E	Leckhampton	Lib Dem	2024		0
Boyes, Angie	H	Charlton Kings	Lib Dem	2024		0
Clark, Barbara	A	All Saints	Lib Dem	2024	-	0
Fifield, Stephan	В	Pittville	Conservative	2024		0
Bassett-Smith,lan	C	Prestbury	PAB	2024		0
Nelson.Emma	D	Leckhampton	Conservative	2024		0
Pineger, Richard	E	St Marks	Lib Dem	2024	-	0
Lewis, Alisha	F	St Pauls	Lib Dem	2024	-	0
Sankey, Julie	G G	Up Hatherley	Lib Dem	2024		0
Bamford, Adrian	A	Up Hatherley	Lib Dem	2024		0
Chelin, Jackie	В	Park	Lib Dem	2024		0
Joy, Tabi	C	St Pauls	Lib Dem	2024		0
Tooke, Julian	D	Pittville	Lib Dem	2024	2	0
Andrews, Glenn	E	Lansdown	Lib Dem	2024	2	0
Tailford, Izaac	F	All Saints	Lib Dem	2024		0
Chidley, Ed		Battledown	Lib Dem	2024	1	0
Smith, Stan		Prestbury	PAB	2024	0	
Barnes, Garth		College	Lib Dem	2024		2003/04
Flynn, Wendy		Hesters Way	Lib Dem	2024	9	2013/14
Wheeler, Simon		Hesters Way	Lib Dem	2024	8	2014/15
Fisher, Bernard	С	Swindon	Lib Dem	2024	15	2018/19
Harvey, Steve	С	Charlton Park	Lib Dem	2024		2021/22
Holliday, Sandra		St. Mark's	Lib Dem	2024		2022/23
Babbage, Matt		Battledown	Conservative	2024		2023/24



Cheltenham Borough Council

Council - 20th February 2023

Council Diary September 2024 – August 2025

Accountable member:
Leader of the Council, Councillor Rowena Hay
Accountable officer:
Democratic Services Team Leader, Bev Thomas
Accountable scrutiny committee:
n/a
Ward(s) affected:
All Wards
Key/Significant Decision:
No

Executive summary:

The proposed diary of Council meetings for September 2024 to August 2025 is attached as Appendix 1.

Please note the proposal from Executive Director Finance, Assets and Regeneration to move the February budget meeting from a Monday afternoon to a Friday afternoon to allow the Council to meet after the County Council has concluded its budget setting process.

The dates and times for the Cabinet are shown for information only as it is for the Leader of the Council to determine the Cabinet meeting dates. However, they follow the pattern of time and frequency followed in previous years.

If it is necessary to make any subsequent amendments to the draft diary, these will be reflected in the published diary online.

Recommendation:

That the draft Council Diary of meetings for September 2024 – August 2025 be approved.

1. Implications

1.1 Financial, Property and Asset implications

There are no implications.

Signed off by:

1.2 Legal implications

There are specific legal implications arising from the recommendation of the report.

In addition to having a diary of meetings for the forthcoming year, the authority is required to comply with the procedural requirements for giving notice of its meetings and the publishing of meeting papers.

Signed off by: One Legal – <u>legalservices@onelegal.org.uk</u>

1.3 Environmental and climate change implications

No implications

Signed off by: Maizy McCann, maizy.mccann@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.4 Corporate Plan Priorities

No implications

Signed off by: Ann Wolstencroft, ann.wolstencroft@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.5 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Implications

No implications

Signed off by: Claire Hughes, Claire. Hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

Performance management – monitoring and review

No implications

Signed off by: Ann Wolstencroft, ann.wolstencroft@cheltenham.gov.uk

2 Background

- **2.1** The diary follows a similar rationale to that adopted in previous years, i.e.:
 - As far as possible, meetings of a particular committee are scheduled on the same day of the week.
 - Easter, August and Whitsun half terms and Friday evenings are avoided

wherever possible, with the occasional exception of the regulatory Planning and Licensing meetings.

- Evening meetings have been scheduled for 6pm to facilitate Members'
 attendance after the working day. That said, if there is a large agenda, the
 timing of some committee meetings will be reviewed on a meeting by meeting
 basis (Planning and Licensing for example). Any change in time will be in
 consultation with Members and advertised on our website when the meeting is
 convened.
- Two regular meetings of the Standards Committee have been scheduled in the diary per year. Due to the nature of the committee, there may be a need for ad hoc meetings during the year to deal with specific issues or for meetings to be rescheduled.
- The dates and times for the Cabinet are shown for information only as it is for the Leader of the Council to determine the Cabinet meeting dates. However, they follow the pattern of time and frequency followed in previous years.
- Generally, once a working group has been established it will be permitted to schedule meetings at a time to suit those Members involved so working group meetings are not included in the diary.
- Eight meetings have been scheduled of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
 These are timetabled to cover key events during the year likely to require
 scrutiny involvement, including the budget consultation, review of the corporate
 strategy and agreeing the annual work plan.
- Provisional dates have been included for the Informal Cabinet meetings. These, however, are subject to change and can be rescheduled as the Cabinet sees fit.
- Slots have been identified for member seminars. For the most part these are held virtually, with recordings made available for all Members to view should they not be able to participate at the scheduled time. Details in relation to the content of these seminars will be made available to Members in due course.
- All Councillor briefings have been scheduled on a quarterly basis and will continue to be held virtually.
- Please note the Council budget setting meeting in February takes place on a Friday afternoon to allow the Council to meet after the County Council has concluded its budget setting process.

3 Reasons for recommendations

3.1 To maintain the running of Cheltenham Borough Council within the guidelines set out in the Constitution.

- 4 Alternative options considered
- 4.1 n/a
- 5 Consultation and feedback
- **5.1** The draft diary was circulated to officers in November/December 2023 and Members in January 2024 as part of the consultation.
- **5.2** Consideration has been given to party conference dates and meetings avoided during these times as far as possible.
- 6 Key risks
- **6.1** n/a

Report author:

Claire Morris, Democratic Services Officer, claire.morris@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:

- i. Risk Assessment
- ii. Council Diary 2024-2025

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

Risk ref	Risk description	Risk owner	Impact score (1-5)	Likelihood score (1-5)	Initial raw risk score (1 - 25)	Risk response	Controls / Mitigating actions	Control / Action owner	Deadline for controls/ actions
	If the dates for Council meetings are not fixed by the Council before the start of or at the first meeting in the New Municipal Year then the Council will not be meeting the requirements of the Constitution.	DSTL	3	2		6	Approve the diary at the February meeting of Council	Democratic Services Team Leader	February 2024 Page
	If dates for other meetings are not scheduled in advance there could be problems in arranging meetings in terms of availability of Members, officers and facilities.	DSTL	3	2		6	Approve the diary with a full list of meetings as early as possible	Democratic Services Team Leader	February 7 2024

This page is intentionally left blank

September 2024		
Ocptomber 2024		
Monday 2 nd		
Tuesday 3 rd		
Wednesday 4 th	Full Licensing Committee	6pm
Thursday 5 th		•
Friday 6 th		
Monday 9 th	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 10 th	Asset Management Working Group	6pm
Wednesday 11 th		
Thursday 12 th	Member Seminar	
Friday 13 th		
NA - La AOth	Toron	
Monday 16 th	Treasury Management Panel (Training Session)	6pm
Tuesday 17 th	Planning View	11am
	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 18 th		
Thursday 19 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 20 th	All Member Briefing	11.30pm-12.30pm
Mary Landon		
Monday 23 rd	Cabinat	0.5
Tuesday 24 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 25 th	Appointments and Remuneration Committee (if required)	6pm
Thursday 26 th	Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee	6pm
Friday 27 th		
Monday 30 th		

October 2024		
Tuesday 1st		
Wednesday 2 nd	Licensing Miscellaneous Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 3 rd		
Friday 4 th		
Monday 7 th		
Tuesday 8 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 9 th		
Thursday 10 th	Member Seminar	
Friday 11 th		
A 4th		
Monday 14 th	Council	2.30pm
Tuesday 15 th	Planning View	11am
Wednesday 16 th	Standards Committee (if required)	6pm
Thursday 17 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 18 th		
Monday 21 st	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 22 nd	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 23 rd	Appointments and Remuneration Committee (if required)	6pm
Thursday 24 th	Budget Scrutiny Working Group	6pm
Friday 25 th		
Half term 28th October –		
1 st November		
Monday 28 th		
Tuesday 29 th		
Wednesday 30 th		
Thursday 31st		

November 2024		
E i L Act		
Friday 1 st		
Monday 4 th		
Tuesday 5 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 6 th	Licensing Miscellaneous	6pm
Thursday 7th	Sub Committee	Com
Thursday 7 th	Asset Management	6pm
Friday 9th	Working Group	
Friday 8 th		
Monday 11 th	Treasury Management	6pm
-	Treasury Management Panel	·
Tuesday 12 th	Planning View	11am
	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 13 th		
Thursday 14 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 15 th		
·		
Monday 18 th		
Tuesday 19 th		
Wednesday 20 th	Member Seminar	
Thursday 21st	Budget Scrutiny Working Group	6pm
Friday 22 nd	'	
Monday 25 th	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 26 th		
Wednesday 27 th	Appointments and Remuneration Committee (if required)	6pm
Thursday 28 th		
Friday 29 th		

December 2024		
Monday 2 nd		
Tuesday 3 rd	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 4 th	Full Licensing Committee	6pm
Thursday 5 th		
Friday 6 th		
Monday 9 th		
Tuesday 10 th	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 11 th		
Thursday 12 th	Member Seminar	
Friday 13 th		
Manday 16th	Coupeil	2.20nm
Monday 16 th Tuesday 17 th	Council Planning View	2.30pm 11am
Tuesday 17	Planning view	Train
	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 18 th	Appointments and	6pm
,	Remuneration Committee	
	(if required)	
Thursday 19 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 20 th	All Member Briefing	11.30am-12.30pm
School Holidays start 23 rd		
December – end January 3 rd .		
Monday 23 rd		
Tuesday 24 th		
Wednesday 25 th	Bank Holiday	
Thursday 26 th	Bank Holiday	
Friday 27 th	Danierionacy	
Monday 30 th		
Tuesday 31st		

January 2025		
Wednesday 1st		
Thursday 2 nd		
Friday 3 rd		
Monday 6 th		
Tuesday 7 th		
Wednesday 8 th	Licensing Miscellaneous Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 9 th	Budget Scrutiny Working Group	6pm
Friday 10 th		
Monday 13 th	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 14 th		
Wednesday 15 th		
Thursday 16 th	Member Seminar	
Friday 17 th		
and the second		
Monday 20 th		
Tuesday 21st	Planning View	11am
	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 22 nd	Audit, Compliance and	6pm
Wodnesday 22	Governance Committee	орт
Thursday 23 rd	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 24 th	The state of the s	
Monday 27 th	Asset Management Working Group	6pm
Tuesday 28 th	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 29 th		
Thursday 30 th		
Friday 31 st		

February 2025		
,		
Monday 3 rd	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 4 th		
Wednesday 5 th	Licensing Miscellaneous Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 6 th	Member Seminar	6pm
Friday 7 th		
Monday 10 th	Treasury Management Panel	6pm
Tuesday 11 th	Planning View	11am
Wednesday 12 th	Standards Committee (if required)	6pm
Thursday 13 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 14 th		
Half term starts 17 th		
February and ends 21st		
February		
Monday 17 th		
Tuesday 18 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 19 th		
Thursday 20 th	O a vers all Maratina e (Decadarat)	0.000
Friday 21 st	Council Meeting (Budget)	2.30pm
Monday 24 th	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 25 th	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 26 th		
Thursday 27 th		
Friday 28 th		

March 2025		
Monday 3 rd		
Tuesday 4 th		
Wednesday 5 th	Full Licensing Committee	6pm
Thursday 6 th	Member Seminar	6pm
Friday 7 th		
Monday 10 th		
Tuesday 11 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 12 th		
Thursday 13 th		
Friday 14 th		
Monday 17 th	Race Week	
Tuesday 18 th	Informal Cabinet/LT	
Wednesday 19 th		
Thursday 20 th		
Friday 21 st		
Monday 24 th	Council	2.30pm
Tuesday 25 th	Planning View	11am
Wednesday 26 th		
Thursday 27 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 28 th	All Member Briefing	11.30am-12.30pm
Monday 31 st	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm

April 2025		
Tugaday 1st		
Tuesday 1st	Licensing Miscellaneous	Grama .
Wednesday 2 nd	Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 3 rd		
Friday 4 th		
th.		
Monday 7 th		
Tuesday 8 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 9 th	Member Seminar	6pm
Thursday 10 th		
Friday 11 th		
School holidays start 14 th		
April and end 25 th April		
Monday 14 th	Discours No.	44
Tuesday 15 th	Planning View	11am
Wednesday 16 th	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Thursday 17 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 18 th	Good Friday	
Monday 21 st	Easter Monday	
Tuesday 22 nd	Edotor Moriday	
Wednesday 23 rd		
Thursday 24 th		
Friday 25 th		
Monday 28 th	Overview and Scrutiny	6pm
	Committee	
Tuesday 29 th		
Wednesday 30 th	Audit, Compliance and	6pm
	Governance Committee	

May 2025		
Thursday 4 st	County Council Floations	
Thursday 1st	County Council Elections	
Friday 2 nd		
Manaday Eth	Deale Helider	
Monday 5 th	Bank Holiday	
Tuesday 6 th	Licensing Missellenseus	Crawa
Wednesday 7 th	Licensing Miscellaneous Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 9th	Sub Committee	
Thursday 8 th		
Friday 9 th		
Monday 12th	Annual Council	2.20nm
Monday 12 th	Mayoral Inauguration	2.30pm
Tuesday 13 th	Mayorar mauguration	6pm
Wednesday 14 th		
Thursday 15 th	Member Seminar	6pm
Friday 16 th	Wernber Seminar	Оріп
Tilday 10		
Monday 19 th		
Tuesday 20 th	Planning View	11am
Tuoday 20	l laming view	Train
	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 21st		
Thursday 22 nd	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 23 rd		
Half term 26th May and		
ends 30 th May		
Monday 26 th	Bank Holiday	
Tuesday 27 th	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 28 th		
Thursday 29 th		
Friday 30th		

Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Full Licensing Committee	6pm
Budget Scrutiny Working Group	6pm
Cabinet	6pm
Member Seminar	6pm
Council	2.30pm
Planning View	11am
Planning Committee	6pm
All Member Briefing	11.30am-12.30pm
Treasury Management Panel	6pm
Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
	Full Licensing Committee Budget Scrutiny Working Group Cabinet Member Seminar Council Planning View Planning Committee All Member Briefing Treasury Management Panel

Luly 2025	<u> </u>	1
July 2025		
Tuesday 1st		
Wednesday 2 nd	Licensing Missellaneous	6nm
vveuriesuay 2	Licensing Miscellaneous Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 3 rd	Budget Scrutiny Working Group	6pm
Friday 4 th		
Monday 7 th	Overview and Scrutiny Committee	6pm
Tuesday 8 th	Cabinet	6pm
Wednesday 9 th	Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee	6pm
Thursday 10 th	Member Seminar	6pm
Friday 11 th		
Monday 14 th		
Tuesday 15 th	Planning view	11am
	Informal Cabinet/LT	5pm
Wednesday 16 th		
Thursday 17 th	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 18 th		
School summer holidays start 22 nd July and end 29 th August		
Monday 21st	Council	2.30pm
Tuesday 22 nd		,
Wednesday 23 rd		
Thursday 24 th		
Friday 25 th		
Monday 28 th		
Tuesday 29 th		
Wednesday 30 th		
Thursday 31st		

August 2025		
Friday 1 st		
Tiluay 1		
Monday 4 th		
Tuesday 5 th		
Wednesday 6 th	Licensing Miscellaneous Sub Committee	6pm
Thursday 7 th		
Friday 8th		
Monday 11 th		
Tuesday 12 th		
Wednesday 13 th		
Thursday 14 th		
Friday 15 th		
a		
Monday 18 th		
Tuesday 19 th	Planning view	11am
Wednesday 20 th	DI : 0 :::	
Thursday 21st	Planning Committee	6pm
Friday 22 nd		
Monday 25th	Bank Holiday	
Monday 25 th Tuesday 26 th	Dalik Hulluay	
Wednesday 27 th		
Thursday 28 th		
Friday 29 th		
I Hudy 29		